
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Council

Members of the Council of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Tuesday, 12 April 2022 at 7.30 
pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 12)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To answer any questions received from members of the public of which 
notice has been given under Council Procedure Rule 13 

5. Minutes of Committees 
To receive and adopt the proceedings, reports and recommendations of 
the following committees, except those items reserved under Council 
procedure Rule 5.2 (6) and to ratify and confirm the orders made by 
them. 

a) Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 21 
February 2022

(Pages 13 - 20)

b) Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 
Wednesday, 2 March 2022

(Pages 21 - 32)

c) Minutes of the meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee held on 
Tuesday, 8 March 2022

(Pages 33 - 38)



d) Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 21 March 
2022

(Pages 39 - 46)

e) Minutes of the meeting of the Overview Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday, 31 March 2022 

MINUTES TO 
FOLLOW 

f) Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 
Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

MINUTES TO 
FOLLOW 

6. Reserved Minutes 
To receive and adopt the proceedings, reports and recommendations of 
committees contained in the list of items reserved under Council 
Procedure Rule 5.2(6) and to ratify the orders made by them. They will 
be dealt with in the following order:-

Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee
Overview Scrutiny Committee
Planning Committee 

To consider reports from officers of the Council
7. Independent Remuneration Panel (Pages 47 - 50)

8. Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023 (Pages 51 - 
100)

9. To consider questions from Members of the Council of which notice has 
been given under Council Procedure Rule 14. 

10.To receive the Mayor's Announcements 



1

Council

Tuesday, 22 February 2022 7.30 pm

Present:

The Worshipful the Mayor, Cllr Lyn Milner 
The Deputy Mayor, Peter Scollard
 
Councillors:

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive 
Nick Brown Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive 
Daniel Killian Director (Housing) 
Melanie Norris Director (Communities) 
Lisa Nyon Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
Vicky Nutley Assistant Head of Legal Services (Place)
Simon Walsh Service Manager (Communities) 
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager 
Andrew Barnett Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
Alexandra Jarvis Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer)
Pat Knight Head of Revenues and Benefits
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager 

Reverend Jaqueline Littlewood Civic Chaplain

Derek Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 
Gurjit Bains
Conrad Broadley 
John Burden 
Gurdip Ram Bungar 
John Caller 
Harold Craske 
Lee Croxton 
Dakota Dibben
Aaron Elliott 
Emma Elliott 
Brian Francis 
Sarah Gow 
Gary Harding 
Baljit Hayre 
Leslie Hills 
Leslie Hoskins
Samir Jassal 
Nirmal Khabra 

Bob Lane 
Jordan Meade 
Shane Mochrie-Cox 
Emma Morley 
Diane Morton
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Leslie Pearton 
Anthony Pritchard 
Tony Rana 
Tony Rice 
Christina Rolles 
Lenny Rolles 
Brian Sangha 
Gurbax Singh 
Lauren Sullivan 
Narinderjit Singh Thandi 
Steve Thompson 
Denise Tiran 
Jenny Wallace 
Frank Wardle

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Council 22.02.2022

2

51. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Helen Ashenden and Alan Ridgers. 

52. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 7 December 2021 were signed by the Mayor.

53. Declarations of Interest 

The Chief Executive advised that, in accordance with advice received from the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer, Members only needed to declare interests which had not already been 
listed within their Disclosable Pecuniary Interests form. 

Cllr Peter Scollard declared an interest in agenda item 6. Reserved Minutes as he was the 
Council representative on Gravesham Community Leisure Limited (GCLL).

54. To answer any questions received from members of the public of which notice 
has been given under Council Procedure Rule 13 

No questions had been received.

55. Minutes of Committees 

Motions that proceedings, reports and recommendations of Committees, except those 
reserved under Council Procedure 5.2(6) as referred to below be received and adopted and 
where applicable the Orders made by them be ratified and confirmed were duly proposed, 
seconded and resolved in each case.

 Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Tuesday, 4 January 2022
 Minutes of the meeting of the Overview Scrutiny Committee held on Thursday, 13 

January 2022 
 Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 31 January 2022 
 Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 2 February 

2022 
 Minutes of the meeting of the Overview Scrutiny Committee held on Thursday, 10 

February 2022
 Minutes of the meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee held on Monday, 14 

February 2022 

56. Reserved Minutes 

It was moved by Cllr John Burden and seconded by Cllr Lee Croxton that:- 

the reserved Minute of Cabinet (Town Pier and Pontoon) held on Monday, 4 January 
2022 be ratified and confirmed.

the reserved Minute of Cabinet (Cascades Leisure Centre) held on Monday, 31 
January 2022 be ratified and confirmed.

Page 4



Council 22.02.2022

3

57. Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022-2023 

The Council received a report which requested approval of the changes to the Council Tax 
Reduction scheme 2022-2023 (as recommended by Cabinet on 31 January 2022) and the 
Financial Support Payment Scheme Policy to be implemented from 1 April 2022.

It was moved by Cllr John Burden and seconded by Cllr Lee Croxton that:- 

1. the Council Tax Reduction scheme 2022-2023 in accordance with the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 be approved; and

2. the Financial Support Payment Scheme Policy be approved.

The motion was put to the meeting and declared to be carried unanimously.

58. Council Tax and Budget Setting 2022-23 

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 17.4.1, an extension of time was given to 
Councillor John Burden and an equal amount of time to Cllrs Jordan Meade and Harold 
Craske. 

The Chief Executive reminded Members that all individual votes in relation to the budget and 
any amendments thereto would be recorded as required by legislation. 

It was moved by Cllr John Burden and seconded by Cllr Lee Croxton that:- 

the motion before Council as set out in the order paper be approved. 

An amendment was moved by Councillor Jordan Meade and seconded by Councillor Ejaz 
Aslam that:-

The Conservative Group move that the Budget should be amended to provide 
additional resources to the Planning Directorate.

It is thus proposed that in order to strengthen our planning enforcement capabilities 
and to improve both customer service and member engagement on planning matters, 
that the budget is amended to enable:

 The recruitment of an additional Planning Enforcement Officer
 The recruitment of a new Planning Liaison (Community & Member 

Engagement) Officer 

Both additional Officers would be employed on a full-time salary and graded at Scale 
5/6.

The costing for each post (£36,650) has been based on the estimated 2022-23 staff 
costs and is inclusive of basic salary, local allowance, Employer Pension and 
National Insurance Contributions.

Total cost of amendment would be £73,300 (2022/23) plus an additional £4,000 in 
start-up costs, allowing for each new officer to be issued with laptops, docking 
stations, screens, licences, etc. to facilitate agile working.

Page 5



Council 22.02.2022

4

This amendment will be funded from:

The Town Pier & Pontoon Reserve of £135,980 should be transferred into the 
Planning Policy Reserve, rather than into the Climate Change Reserve.

This would see the revised Planning Policy Reserve stand at a total of: £568,870

The year one cost of this amendment £73,300 + £4k start-up costs will be funded 
from drawing on the now amended Planning Policy Reserve.

The year two cost of this amendment £74,770 (which includes a 2% inflationary 
increase) will be funded from drawing on the now amended Planning Policy Reserve.

From year three onwards, the two additional posts will be funded from savings:

The Community Directorate (Specifically found from Community Events & 
Engagement activities)
Community Engagement G094/34504 £11,000
Community Events G209/34355 £20,000
St George’s Arts Centre Events G259/70230 £20,000
Match Funding (to attract external funds) G259/34272 £15,000 

With the remaining balance met from the Planning Policy Reserve.

Impact on the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP)

The funding of the amendment is set out in the table below:

Year MTFP 
Year

Total  cost of 
proposed 

amendment
£

Planning 
Policy 

Reserve 
Funding

£

Service 
Codes

£

Total 
funding for 
proposed 

amendment
£

1 2022/23 77,300 77,300 -- 77,300
2 2023/24 74,770 74,770 -- 74,770
3 2024/25 76,270 10,270 66,000 76,270
4 2025/26 77,800 11,800 66,000 77,800
5 2026/27 79,360 13,360 66,000 79,360
6 2027/28 80,950 14,950 66,000 80,950
7 2028/29 82,570 16,570 66,000 82,570
8 2029/30 84,220 18,220 66,000 84,220
9 2030/31 85,900 19,900 66,000 85,900

The amendment would remove funding of £135,980 planned for the Climate 
Change Reserve, with this instead being directed to the Planning Policy Reserve.

The year one cost of the amendment could be met from the amended Planning 
Policy Reserve with no impact on the activity intended to be funded by the Reserve. 
In year two, only £58,680 of the redirected funding to the Planning Policy Reserve 

Page 6



Council 22.02.2022

5

would be available to meet the cost of the amendment. The balance of £16,090 in 
year 2 and the draw from the Reserve in year 3 onwards would be diverting funds 
from the activity intended be met from the Reserve, the purpose of which is “To 
meet the financial liabilities arising from the development and maintenance of the 
Gravesham Local Development Scheme”.

There would be an ongoing reduction in the annual funding available to deliver 
Community Events & Engagement activities.

Approval, comments and sign-off of the Section 151 Officer:

I can confirm that I have examined the amendment put forward by the Conservative 
Group to the proposed General Fund Revenue Budget for 2022/23. The amendment 
would continue to produce a balanced revenue budget for 2022/23.

The amendment includes recurring expenditure, the funding of which has been 
considered and reflected. It has been specifically costed and is therefore 
considered to be a sufficiently robust estimates to be included in the budget.

The amendment would enable the Community Directorate to fully assess in years 
one and two how the proposed budget reductions (specifically from community 
events & engagement activities) could be delivered and any impact on such activity.

The proposal is balanced from 2024/25 only by the use of the Planning Policy 
Reserve. The use of the Reserve for this purpose is not currently in line with the 
reason for holding the Reserve.

Sarah Parfitt
Director (Corporate Services)

Following a debate, the amendment was put to the meeting and declared to be lost by 22 
votes to 18:-

For the motion Against the motion Abstain
Cllrs: D Ashenden, Aslam, 
Bains, Broadley, Dibben, A 
Elliott, E Elliott, Harding, 
Hills, Hoskins, Jassal, Lane, 
Meade, Morton, Pritchard, 
Rice, Tiran and Wardle.

The Worshipful the Mayor
Cllrs: Burden, Bungar, Caller, 
Croxton, Francis, Gow, 
Hayre, Khabra, Mochrie-Cox, 
Morley, Mulheran, Rana, C 
Rolles, L Rolles, Sangha, 
Scollard, Singh, Sullivan, 
Thandi, Thompson and 
Wallace.

Cllrs: Craske and Pearton. 

Page 7



Council 22.02.2022

6

The substantive motion was put to the meeting and declared to be carried by 23 votes to 
18:-

For the motion Against the motion Abstain
The Worshipful the Mayor
Cllrs: Burden, Bungar, Caller, 
Craske, Croxton, Francis, 
Gow, Hayre, Khabra, 
Mochrie-Cox, Morley, 
Mulheran, Rana, C Rolles, L 
Rolles, Sangha, Scollard, 
Singh, Sullivan, Thandi, 
Thompson and Wallace.

Cllrs: D Ashenden, Aslam, 
Bains, Broadley, Dibben, A 
Elliott, E Elliott, Harding, 
Hills, Hoskins, Jassal, Lane, 
Meade, Morton, Pritchard, 
Rice, Tiran and Wardle.

Cllr: Pearton. 

It was therefore resolved that:-

1. It be noted that on 5 January 2022 the Director (Corporate Services) calculated;

(a) the Council Tax Base 2022-23 for the whole Council area as 34,829.66 Band D 
equivalent properties, in accordance with Regulation 3 of the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 made under Section 31B of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by Section 74 of the Localism Act 
2011.

(b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish precept relates as set out 
below;

Part of the Council's area: Units
Cobham 671.13
Higham 1,583.41
Luddesdown 104.58
Meopham 3,071.07
Shorne 1,154.76
Vigo 717.40
Gravesham & Northfleet 27,527.31
Total 34,829.66

2. Calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the Council's own purposes for 2022-
23 (excluding Parish precepts) is £7,592,170 (£217.98 per Band D Property).

3. That the following amounts be calculated by the Council for the year 2022-23 in 
accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as 
amended by Section 74 of the Localism Act 2011:

(a) £74,838,850 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates 
for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into 
account all precepts issued to it by Parish Councils.

Page 8



Council 22.02.2022

7

(b) £66,774,820 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates 
for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act.

(c) £8,064,030
being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds 
the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the Council in 
accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax 
requirement for the year.

(d) £231.53 being the amount at 3(c) above , all divided by Item 1a above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B(1) of 
the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year 
(including Parish precepts).

(e) £471,860 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish precepts) 
referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act.

(f) £217.98 being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing 
the amount at 3(e) above by Item 1a above, calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic 
amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts 
of its area to which no Parish precept relates.

        (g) Part of the Council's 
area:

£

Parish of:
Cobham 270.13
Higham 295.98
Luddesdown 287.84
Meopham 263.08
Shorne 254.55
Vigo 392.66

being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 3(f) above the amounts of the 
special item or items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area mentioned 
above divided in each case by the amount at 1(b) above, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic amounts of its council tax for the 
year for the dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more special items 
relate.

Page 9



Council 22.02.2022

8

(h) Part of the Council's area

Valuation Bands

A B C D E F G H
Parish of: £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Cobham 180.09 210.10 240.12 270.13 330.16 390.19 450.22 540.26
Higham 197.32 230.21 263.09 295.98 361.75 427.53 493.30 591.96
Luddesdown 191.89 223.88 255.86 287.84 351.80 415.77 479.73 575.68
Meopham 175.39 204.62 233.85 263.08 321.54 380.00 438.47 526.16
Shorne 169.70 197.98 226.27 254.55 311.12 367.68 424.25 509.10
Vigo 261.77 305.40 349.03 392.66 479.92 567.18 654.43 785.32
All other 
parts 145.32 169.54 193.76 217.98 266.42 314.86 363.30 435.96

being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 3(f) and 3(g) above by the number 
which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a 
particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to 
dwellings listed in valuation band D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 
36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of 
categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands.

Note: During the debate, the Mayor drew attention to the time remaining and stated that 
under Council Procedure Rule 12 she would extend the time allowed for the 
remaining business to be concluded.

59. Revised Shadow Cabinet - Conservative Group - for information. 

The Council noted the revised Shadow Cabinet.

60. Appointments to Outside Body 

Resolved that Councillor Anthony Pritchard to be re-appointed to the Elizabeth 
Huggins Cottages Charity for a four year term.

61. To consider questions from Members of the Council of which notice has been 
given under Council Procedure Rule 14. 

No questions had been received.

62. To receive the Mayor's Announcements 

The Mayor invited Members to attend her Curry and Quiz Night on 30 March 2022 and 
Dinner Dance on 6 May 2022. 

The Mayor invited those present to join her in the Parlour for refreshments.

Page 10



Council 22.02.2022

9

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 10.40 pm

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cabinet

Monday, 21 February 2022 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles 
Lauren Sullivan 
Narinderjit Singh Thandi 
Jenny Wallace

Note: Cllr Ejaz Aslam, Dakota Dibben, Gary Harding, Baljit Hayre, 
Leslie Hills, Bob Lane, Jordan Meade and Diane Morton were also in 
attendance.

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Daniel Killian Director (Housing)
Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

15. Apologies for absence 

No apologies for absence were received.

16. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on Monday 31 January 2022 were signed by the Chair.

17. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

No decisions other than those already circulated had been made.

18. Minutes of meeting of Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee from 20 January 
2022 

The Cabinet were presented with the minutes of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee 
held on Thursday, 20 January 2022. 

The minutes were noted.  

19. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2021-22 

The Chief Executive provided Cabinet with an update on the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Three 2021-22 
(October to December 2021).  

Page 13 Agenda Item 5a



CABINET 21.02.2022

2

The Cabinet Members highlighted some of their Performance Indicators:

Cllr L Rolles informed Cabinet that PI47 would be updated in time for the Commercial 
Services Cabinet Committee. 

Cllr L Rolles reported that PI54 had increased, which was good news and was aware of a 
few schemes that are run by the council to get more younger people into employment. 

Cllr Mochrie-Cox explained that PI13, the number of environmental enforcement actions 
taken, was a continuing trend of 84 despite holding 2 vacancies during this period. This work 
will continue and will give out a clear message that the council will take action and will 
enforce notices and have successful prosecutions. 

Cllr Mochrie-Cox reported that although PI42 was slightly down from the first quarter, 
attendance in Q3 had increased due to the pantomime. Due to Covid, performances had 
been severely affected but the council had recently seen a good upturn of numbers and 
hoped this trend would continue. 

Cllr Sullivan informed Cabinet that the number of net additional homes had increased and 
affordable homes delivered had doubled since last year. Resident unemployment had fallen 
in Q3.  An increase of active businesses increased and by the increase of business 
breakfasts, brunch and dinners there is a very strong, vibrant business network in the 
borough. Issuing the Covid funds to businesses from the Government had been well 
received. 

Cllr Croxton highlighted that the council is getting closer to 45% and is striving to achieve 
50% of recycled waste. The percentage had gone down slightly and that was linked to the 
residual waste. With Covid there was significantly more waste but the council is still manging 
comfortably at 43,44,45 % of recycled waste but more education is required. With the use of 
bin hangers, the council is encouraging residents to keep all their waste within one bin over 
the two-week period. The council had struggled with the % of unacceptable levels of littering 
but looking around the town centre and discussing with residents these areas are now 
looking much cleaner. The council employed another 6 posts and cleaning is now covered, 
within the town centre, 7 days a week from 7am – 6pm across the town centre.   

Cllr Thandi explained that during the pandemic, housing benefits were being distributed to 
residents much quicker than nationally.  

The Leader highlighted that Q3 had a good level of performance especially coming out of 
Covid and the council will keep challenging and pushing forward.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

20. Update on GBC response to the COVID-19 Pandemic 

The Chief Executive provided Cabinet with an update on the activities of various council 
departments in the continued response to the COVID-19 pandemic since the last update in 
March 2021.  

The Chief Executive guided Members through the report and highlighted the following key 
points:

Page 14



CABINET 21.02.2022

3

 The overall financial support administered by the Council for local residents and 
businesses over the past year was just under £11m.  

 The Woodville became a vaccination centre for the borough and over 104,000 
vaccines were delivered.

 The council continued to support the NHS Test and Trace service in contacting over 
600 cases who had tested positive and many of which required detailed record 
checks, door knocks and follow up calls to ascertain specific information. 

 Procured and started running the Rough Sleeping Service which meant more 
overnight sleepers were taken off the streets. 

The Leader thanked the Chief Executive and Officers for a detailed report. Covid has not 
gone away but we are going to have to learn to live with it. The report indicated that the 
council allocated a significant amount of government funds to residents and businesses 
within Gravesham. This report does not reflect the amount of time and effort that Officers 
have had to do on top of their day job and trying to keep within budget. 

Following questions and comments from Members, the Chief Executive explained that:

 The rebate of £150 for Council Taxpayers living in Band A-D will not be easy to 
administer based on the limited amount of information received to date regarding the 
scheme. The expectation will be a direct payment made by Gravesham to all our 
council taxpayers in Band A-D on a day to be determined using bank details held for 
them. There are 34,000 A-D Band properties in the borough and only 14,000 of these 
pay by direct debit so the council holds their bank details. Once the information has 
been received from Government, the council will need to obtain 20,000 bank details 
from residents before the payment can be actually paid out. Nationally, this could 
introduce a significant fraud risk obtaining bank details and setting up a portal to 
administer this payment. The council and other local authorities / partners will 
experience a number of challenges including data protection information to overcome 
this, but more information will be received next week. 

 The New Burdens funding could meet the costs of additional staff writing to residents 
to obtain the relevant information. The council currently does not know the quantum 
and so is unable to quantify what these costs will be. 

 A portal will need to be developed for these repayments. It is unsure if each authority 
will need to develop this portal or whether it will be a Kent wide or national portal.  

 As it stands at present, any resident living in a Band A-D property on the designated 
date will receive that payment even if they move out the next day which will mean the 
new resident will not receive the payment. 

 Payments will be made to the named person on the council tax system. For example, 
for student accommodation the payment will go direct to the landlords not the 
students direct where rent is paid inclusive of Council Tax. Those occupants would 
not have an opportunity to claim the £150 but would have to liaise with their landlord.  

The Leader thanked all the Officers involved and the council is appreciative of what they 
have done and will be doing. 

The Cabinet were asked to note the updates provided in the report.

Page 15



CABINET 21.02.2022

4

21. Cessation of the Revenues & Benefits Shared Management Arrangements 

The Chief Executive provided Cabinet with information on the cessation of the Shared 
Management Arrangement with Medway Council for the Revenues and Benefits service.  

Since October 2019 Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council have operated a 
shared management arrangement in relation to the Revenues and Benefits services at both 
authorities. 

In practice, this has taken the form of a shared Head of Revenues and Benefits and a shared 
Revenues Manager, both employed by Medway Council and shared 50:50 between the two 
authorities.

A review was undertaken in January 2022 and taking into account a number of challenges 
and the introduction of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) and Low Income Family 
Tracker (LIFT), Medway Council formally served notice to cease the shared management 
arrangement from the end of March 2022. 

It is therefore intended to put in place a new management structure for Revenues & Benefits 
at Gravesham from 1 April 2022. The proposed arrangements are set out below: 

 Re-introduction of a Service Manager (Revenues and Benefits) to manage the 
Revenues and Benefits Service. 

 Re-evaluation of the Assistant Manager (Revenues and Benefits) post to take into 
account the responsibilities of the post holder in respect of the Revenues Team.

The Cabinet noted and agreed with the report.

22. KCC Kent Homeless Connect Service 

The Director (Housing) informed Cabinet of a decision recently taken by Kent County 
Council to allow the Kent Homeless Connect contract, which provides specialist housing and 
support to vulnerable people and households, to come to its natural end in September 2022 
and to outline the impact this decision is likely to have locally. 

This will involve the removal of £5m funding from their budgets. 

The current Kent Homeless Connect contract was established in 2019 by Kent County 
Council (KCC) to provide support to vulnerable adults at risk of becoming homeless or 
experiencing homelessness within Kent with complex needs such as mental health issues, 
struggling alcohol abuse and known difficulties. 

If left unsupported by KCC, it would place a burden on other support services offered by 
KCC such as Specialist Children's Services, Adult Mental Health, and Safeguarding if no 
such service existed. In addition to this, other public agencies such as NHS, Probation 
Services, Community Safety, Public Health, etc. would also see additional burdens. 

The current contract to set to come to an end in September 2022 and with no option to 
extend it. Throughout 2021, Gravesham Officers formed part of the working group 
established by KCC to create tender documents to re-procure the service.  However, 
following some announcements from Government in late December 2021 KCC announced 

Page 16



CABINET 21.02.2022

5

they would need to make savings of £5m which would be taken from the budget and would 
not be replacing the Kent Homeless Connect contract. 

Current services are delivered by two partners, Look Ahead and Porchlight. These agencies 
provide a significant amount of support in our borough most notably supported 
accommodation. We currently have 14 single people in supported accommodation and at 
this point it is unclear what the transitional arrangement will be put in place by KCC. 

The removal of this service will leave a significant gap in the service provision, and it is likely 
to increase the number of people sleeping rough on our streets with complex health issues. 

It is estimated the public sector will incur costs of £8m per year with the removal of this 
service. 

KCC did not consult on its decision to cease the Kent Homeless Connect contact. Despite 
deciding to cut the funding, KCC have not yet undertaken a quality impact assessment or 
given its rationale to cut this service above the many other providers. They have not set out 
how they intend to mitigate the burden they highlighted in other services area in the original 
report. 

The decision to remove the £5m was formalised by KCC at their budget setting meeting 
earlier this month and they now intend to complete risk assessments and quality impact 
assessments relating to the decision before the end of the contract. 

The Director (Housing) is seeking Cabinet approval to agree to form a working group to 
engage with the current providers over the coming months to fully understand the impact.

The Leader thanked the Director (Housing) and Officers for a detailed report, but this is not 
good news for Gravesham. Gravesham found out about these changes at 5pm on New 
Year’s Eve and Officers working within the Kent Homeless Connect Service were unaware.  
No District Leader, within Kent, supports this change. There has been a lack of consultation 
and understanding for residents throughout Kent.  

As a borough we have a duty to the homeless, unfortunately we do not have the budget or 
resources for all the social services aspects. Kent have a legal duty to people under 25 
where there are complex needs and vulnerabilities but Gravesham are not equipped to deal 
with the necessary support for people with acute mental health and dependency issues, that 
is Kent’s role. This service will be phased out from September onwards and the council 
hopes that a way forward will be found.  

The Leader informed the Cabinet that Kent had not yet considered the environmental and 
equality impact and had not completed a risk assessment. The Leader hopes that people in 
Kent will not suffer with the service being cut. 

Following questions and comments from Members, the following was discussed:

 Members of the Cabinet expressed their anger and dismay at the decision being 
made by KCC and the fact that no equality and impact assessment had been 
undertaken. 

 Members asked whether other agencies could provide a joint and cohesive response 
to work together in partnership rather than only one unitary authority in Kent. The 
Director (Housing) explained the council was going to ask for an impact assessment 

Page 17



CABINET 21.02.2022

6

to be completed and the third sector partnership to continue to protect the service 
without any additional cost to the council. 

 In the report from 2017, there was a recognition of duplication and gaps in the 
service but no recommendation that there could be a better service or a retender of 
the service.  

 The Leader felt that a judicial review of the decision was unlikely. 
 Members said they hoped Kent Leaders would respond and if the point could be 

made to local residents as to where the decision was made. 
 The decision to cease this service will hit the most vulnerable people sleeping on the 

streets, with nowhere to go.   

The council has a duty to the homeless and the council will do their duty as this group of 
people are the most vulnerable, but Kent also has a duty to fulfil to protect and safeguard 
them and hopefully move them back into normal society. There needs to be a way of solving 
this, the Government will need to be involved. 

Cabinet noted the KCC decision and agreed to form a working group to engage with
the current providers over the coming months to fully understand the impact locally
and explore the potential of protecting the current service provision through alternative
ways of working outside of Gravesham Borough Council funding.

23. Queens Platinum Jubilee Celebrations 

The Director (Communities) provided the Committee with an update on the events that will 
take place to mark the occasion of the Queens Platinum Jubilee.

In 2022, her Majesty the Queen has become the first British Monarch to celebrate a Platinum 
Jubilee, marking seventy years of service to the country. 

As part of those celebrations, there will be year-long Platinum Jubilee celebrations planned 
and there is an extended bank holiday, from Thursday 2 to Sunday 5 June.  It is an 
opportunity for communities and people to come together to celebrate.

Working in conjunction with the horticultural team and the housing directorate the Queen has 
asked that the country celebrates through the Queen’s Green Canopy which is encouraging 
organisations, businesses, voluntary groups and councils to create a network of trees that 
will help support the environment and fight the climate crisis.

As part of that the council has an extensive scheme for Woodlands Park including a sensory 
garden which will be the first sensory play equipment supplied by the council within the 
borough and that will replace the broken and unused crazy golf course in Woodlands Park. 

Planting of trees in Windmill Hill and the beacon will be replaced and reinstated with a flower 
bed around the base of the beacon along with new seating in that area and a tree will be 
planted at the top of Windmill Hill.

Further tree planting schemes will be at Istead Rise and Camer Park. 

Thousands of spring bulbs will be planted across the borough and in addition to what we 
have done during the Remembrance period the horticultural team will be spraying on 80 
crowns which will appear in greens spaces around the borough. 

Page 18



CABINET 21.02.2022

7

The council will also be working with Parish Councils and communities to plant trees at a 
location of their choice. We are also working with the Social Housing team to find suitable 
gardens in which to plant a tree.  

The council will host a large street party on 26 May on Community Square. Primary Schools 
will be invited and residents who were born in 1952 can apply to be invited.  The council will 
be taking part in the beacon lighting at Windmill Hill and will also light the mobile beacon at 
the Civic Centre. 

The town will be dressed with union flags and bunting as normal for St George’s Day and 
then further official Platinum Jubilee flags will go up in May. The Community Square will be 
decorated for the occasion. All planters and hanging baskets will have a red, white and blue 
theme and a local group, the community group of knitters will be knitting corgis and Queens 
and they will be left around the borough as little gifts for residents. 

There will be a month-long celebration at St George’s Arts Centre with a workshop where 
residents can learn how to make things for their own street parties. 

Members would like to pay tribute to the Queen’s long service on behalf of the borough. That 
length of service is commendable, and all these events will celebrate the occasion. 

The Leader and Members thanked the Officers for all their work developing the Queen’s 
Green Canopy it will be a real asset to the borough and will create useable space and will fit 
in with the council’s climate change activities. 

The Committee noted the report.  

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at.8.40 pm

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 2 March 2022 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Gary Harding  
Samir Jassal
Bob Lane
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice 

Note: Cllr Lee Croxton, Baljit Hayre, Lenny Rolles and Jenny Wallace were 
also in attendance         

Shazad Ghani            Service Manager (Planning)
Faye Hobbs Team Leader (Development Management)
Amanda Grout Planning Officer
Laura Caiels Principal Lawyer – Place Team  
Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

44. Apologies for absence 

No apologies for absence were received. 

45. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 2 February 
2022 were signed by the Chair.

46. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Rice declared a pecuniary interest in item 5b, G and M Motors, as he is a Director of 
Rosherville and one of their operating services (Rosherville Vehicle Servicing Limited) 
provides Vehicle Serving and MOT services. Cllr Rice left the meeting during the discussion 
and voting on this item.   

Cllr Craske declared an other interest as he is a customer of G and M Motors but he 
informed the Committee that this would not have any effect on the decision.   

47. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

47.1 20211529 - 25 The Avenue, Gravesend, Kent, DA11 0NA 

The Chair announced that although he is a Pelham Ward Councillor he had not had any 

Page 21 Agenda Item 5b



Planning Committee 2.03.2022

2

involvement in this application and therefore had an open mind in the determination. 

The Committee considered 20211529 in relation to 25 The Avenue, Gravesend, Kent, DA11 
0NA. The application is for the change of use from dwelling house to a 9 bedroom house of 
multiple occupation (HMO).

The Team Leader (Development Management) introduced application 20211529 to the 
Committee and highlighted key points from the report. 

 The site lies close to the town centre in a mixed residential area, and in the Pelham 
Road / The Avenue Conservation Area. The property is one of a group of large semi-
detached houses of identical design. The area is mainly residential but includes a mix 
of residential uses, including supported accommodation, flats and bedsits and other 
HMOs.

 In terms of the existing HMOs, no recent planning permission have been granted, 
although there are historic permissions from late 80s and 90s: 

o Number 15 – share house since 1992
o Number 4 – granted to use as bedsits in 1986
o Number 5 – deemed lawful in 2007 through passage of time it was operating. 

 
 Due to the size of the property, its sustainable location and the existing mixed 

residential use of the area, an HMO use is considered appropriate for this site and 
complies with the requirements of saved Policy H5 of the 1994 Local Plan and Policy 
CS14 of the 2014 Core Strategy. 

 A previous application for an 11-bedroom HMO at the property was recently refused 
by the Planning Committee in November 2021. The first refusal grounds related to the 
proposed development failing to comply with the Council’s HMO Amenity Standards 
guidance, particularly in relation to unacceptable living and bedroom spaces, and the 
failure to provide a high standard of amenity for future users. The second refusal 
related to the lack of a SAMMS contribution. The current application proposes a 9 
(single) bedroom HMO, with an increased kitchen / dining / sitting space provision. A 
SAMMS contribution agreement has also been signed and the appropriate tariff paid. 

 There are no external alterations to the building and the front and rear gardens will be 
retained as existing. 

 The proposal is considered to preserve the character and appearance of the 
application site and surrounding Conservation Area. 

 The site had permission last year for a single storey rear extension, which will now be 
used to provide a bedroom and part of the communal space. 

 On the ground floor, there will be 3 bedrooms with a shared kitchen / dining / sitting 
space and two separate WC / shower rooms. 

 On the first floor there are three further bedrooms together with a communal room and 
separate bathroom and WC / shower room. 

 There will be three further bedrooms in the roof space of the house. 
 The main concern with the previous proposal related to the impact on the amenity of 

the future occupiers of the HMO. The Council has a Guidance to Amenity Standards 
document that is intended to assist in the provision of accommodation in HMOs that 
contributes to a safe and healthy environment for occupants and visitors. The 
guidance includes minimum bedroom sizes, which must be met to comply with the 
requirements on HMO licenses. 

 The current proposal now meets the minimum bedroom requirement for a single 
occupied room of 6.5m² with all rooms being in excess of 10m² with the exception of 

Page 22



Planning Committee 2.03.2022

3

one room which is 8.6m² but still exceeds the minimum size of 6.5m².
 The size of the kitchen / dining space is over the required minimum standard of 29m² 

for a 9-bedroom HMO. In addition, there will be mechanical ventilation in all bath / 
shower rooms and sufficient wash hand basins for 9 occupants. 

 Refuse storage is also included. 
 Other planning considerations include issues of neighbour amenity, though concerns 

on this matter were not previously considered to be significant enough to warrant a 
refusal on this basis. 

 As no external changes are proposed, there are no adverse impacts on light or privacy 
for neighbouring properties. 

 Noise and disturbance – there is no evidence that substantial or sustained levels of 
harm would result from the proposal. The proposed number of occupants has now 
been reduced which would further lesson any impact. 

 A condition was suggested to include various recommendations from Kent Police in 
order to help reduce any potential crime at the property, including access control, 
lighting, alarms and fire / security certified doors. 

 Parking concerns have been raised but given the accessibility of the site to public 
transport and town centre services and facilities, there is no parking requirements for 
the proposal. Provision for 3 bicycles can be made in the rear garden and will be 
secured via condition.  

The Chair thanked the Officers for a detailed report.

In response to Members questions on the clarification of the application, the Team Leader 
(Development Management) explained that:

 There are currently two supported care homes in close proximity to this application, 
flats and bedsits are located at number 4 and 17 and other HMOs are located at 5 and 
15. As discussed earlier there have been no recent planning permissions issued for 
other HMOs in The Avenue. 

 Regarding anti-social behaviour, Kent Police commented in the report that “the 
potential for ASB, nuisance and conflict is significant”. As this comment is not included 
in the 10 points that Kent Police feel should be part of the conditions, then the anti-
social issues could be overcome. 

 There have been similar applications in Gravesham which has used this approach but 
of those application, none have been of this size. 

 There is no policy on how many HMOs or clustering can be in one area.  

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker for the application. Following the address 
by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

 The Chair asked if there would be a resident manager on site to regulate the property 
and tenants. The applicant explained there would not be someone on site 24/7 but the 
applicant would be regularly visiting the property. 

 The applicant explained that written in the tenancy agreement if there was any anti-
social behaviour the tenancy would be immediately terminated. 

 The applicant informed the Committee that they had attended a course on how to 
manage anti-social behaviour. 

 The applicant explained that as they would be attending the property on a regular 
basis there would be no potential for disaster with more people staying overnight than 
the stated 9 people.

Page 23



Planning Committee 2.03.2022

4

 Following a question from Cllr Rice as to whether the subject of anti-social behaviour 
would be a material planning consideration or a licensing issuing, the Team Leader 
(Development Management) explained that the council has a duty to consult important 
consultees that could provide important consultation or any concerns. With planning 
applications of a similar nature, the council normally addresses anti-social behaviour 
within the planning remit via conditions. It is important to note that the council can 
control that this property, if approved, will have 9 single rooms which equates to 9 
people and a condition has been submitted for that. 

 The HMO is not a care facility or assisted living so would not require someone on duty 
at all times. These are rooms that are rented rather than self-contained independent 
living normally on a short term lease. 

 The Principal Lawyer – Place Team confirmed that only some things can be controlled 
via planning conditions. If there were anti-social behaviour issues the Police would 
need to be contacted. 

 The applicant confirmed that the advertisement for the property and tenancy 
agreement would state no parking facilities. Being so close to the town centre or train 
station there is no requirement for the occupants to have their own vehicles and the 
applicants will vet those that apply to live in the HMO. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker objecting to the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

 This property would not contribute to Gravesham’s housing targets as it is 1 dwelling 
not 9. 

 The report states there will be a requirement for sufficient storage. 
 The Team Leader (Development Management) confirmed that the bedroom sizes 

were the same size as the previous application but this application states single 
occupancy whereas the previous application did not specify single or double 
occupancy. The minimum size for a single person is 6.5m² and the smallest room in 
this application is 8.6m². 

 The objector confirmed there had been no engagement with the applicant about this 
application after the previous refusal. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker objecting to the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

 Following a question from Cllr Mulheran as to whether this development would have 
an adverse effect on community cohesion, the objector confirmed she felt it would.

 The objector confirmed that although she had been into the property no discussion 
about the application had taken place. 

The Committee heard from Cllr Baljit Hayre, a Ward Councillor for Pelham Ward and his 
concerns were for the occupants and future occupants of this property. Cllr Hayre felt there is 
not sufficient hand basins or personal washing facilities in the property and the second floor 
currently has no WC or bathroom. The communal area is too small at 6.7m² and what would 
the effect of additional parking, anti-social behaviour and the extra strain on local amenities 
have on the local residents.
 
The Committee heard from Cllr Jenny Wallace, a Ward Councillor for Pelham Ward and is 
against this application. Cllr Wallace is concerned about who will live in this property. For the 
private sector Gravesham Borough Council Housing Department statutory responsibilities are 

Page 24



Planning Committee 2.03.2022

5

to ensure there are good standards in the properties for tenants and also licensing. The 
property is owned by a local private landlord and is rented to DMC Health Care Services who 
currently have a contract with Kent County Council’s Social Services. There have been a 
number of disturbances and anti-social behaviour incidents at 25 The Avenue with the police 
being called. Carers are visiting a tenant at the property on a regular basis during each 24 hr 
period, these carers have been parking without permits and it is a residents parking permit 
area. Rubbish is frequently left outside the property. The council are not in a position to 
determine who can live in this property but surely the landlord must have a responsibility to 
local residents and neighbours, but this is currently not happening. 

The Service Manager (Planning) confirmed that matters related to the current tenant are not 
material planning considerations. 

The Team Leader (Development Management) fielded questions from Members and the 
following discussions were discussed:

 Although anti-social behaviour could be an issue, Members agreed they would 
consider what was in the report to make their decision and not be influenced on 
hypothetical people moving into the property. 

 Members asked if there were valid grounds for refusal and could that decision be 
overturned if it went to an appeal. The Team Leader (Development Management) 
explained as Officers have recommended approval with conditions, the application is 
compliant. It would be difficult to respond until the specific grounds of refusal were 
discussed. If the decision was refused against development policy, there would be an 
opportunity to appeal but the reasons of refusal would need to be as clear as possible. 

 Cllr Mulheran expressed concerns on the poor standards for future occupants with a 
lack of washing facilities. Confirmation from Gravesham’s Housing Improvement 
Officer was that the wash hand basins were stated as adequate. 

 The Principal Lawyer – Place Team confirmed that only 9 people could live in this 
property as stated in the conditions. 

 Following a question from Cllr Rice – when it gets to community cohesion how does 
that overlay when there are a number of HMO’s in the area and Gravesham has no 
policy regarding the density of HMOs.  How will this affect the local services and at 
what point would that cross over into CS1 sustainable development. The Team Leader 
(Development Management) confirmed Gravesham have no policy on the number of 
HMOs in one specific area. Each case and the different uses is looked at within the 
specific area and the council does not consider this proposal as a concentration of 
HMOs within the area.  

 If the number of occupants did increase the planning permission would be in breach 
and Planning Enforcement would be able to take enforcement action if they 
considered that it would be appropriate. An amendment to the application would be 
required to amend the numbers and then there would be issue with undersized rooms.

 If planning permission was granted, the applicant would then need to apply for a HMO 
license.  

 The Service Manager (Planning) confirmed that planning permission stays with the 
land/property, whilst the HMO license sits with a landlord.  

The Chair summarised the application and raised concerns regarding community cohesion 
and anti-social behaviour, these concerns were echoed by other Members of the Committee. 

The Vice Chair recommended approval and was seconded by Cllr Lane. 

Page 25



Planning Committee 2.03.2022

6

The Chair thanked the registered speakers, Ward Councillors and the Officers for the detailed 
report.

Resolved that application 2021529 be APPROVED with conditions: 

Conditions 

1. The development hereby approved shall be begun not later than 3 years following the 
date of this permission. 

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in precise accordance with the 
following approved plans and particulars: 

Heritage Statement; 
Design and Access Statement; 
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/01 (Site Map and No Change to Elevations); 
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/02 (Proposed Ground Floor Plan);
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/03 (Proposed First Floor Plan); 
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/04 (Proposed Second Floor Plan); 
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/05 (No Change to Block Plan); and 
Drawing no. 25TA/A3/06 (Existing Floor Plans). 
(All received 10 December 2021) 
Application form received 14 December 2021. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

3. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a scheme of cycle 
storage facilities incorporating 3 cycle parking spaces within a secure and 
weatherproof enclosure has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These facilities shall be made available for use prior to first 
occupation of the development hereby approved and retained for use by site users at 
all times thereafter. 

Reason: In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with 
Policies CS11 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014. 

4. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of security for 
the property to comply with the recommendations of Kent Police in their letter dated 29 
January 2022, including access controls, lighting, alarms, and fire/security certified 
doors, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and the work shall be carried out in strict accordance with those details. 

Reason: To ensure a safe living environment in the interests of amenity, and in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Local Plan Core Strategy 2014. 

5. The approved refuse storage facilities for the development hereby approved shall be 

Page 26



Planning Committee 2.03.2022

7

provided prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted and shall 
thereafter shall be retained for such purposes at all times. 

Reason: In the interest of amenity and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014. 

6. Notwithstanding the details submitted on the application form and in the approved 
plans, the number of bedrooms and occupants at the property shall at no time be 
more than 9. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of the residential amenities of occupiers and 
neighbouring properties and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy 2014. 

7. No more than 2 residents' parking permits shall be sought in relation to the property at 
25 The Avenue, Gravesend. 

Reason: In the interests of amenity and parking pressures in the area, and in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014

INFORMATIVES:- 

1 WORKS OF CONSTRUCTION 

Hours of work of construction site plant, equipment and machinery, should be restricted to not 
earlier than 7.00 a.m. and not later than 6.00 p.m. weekdays and Saturday working should be 
restricted to not earlier than 8.00a.m. and not later than 1.00 p.m. No work shall be carried out 
on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. 

i. Suitable sound attenuation shall be used at all times in respect of all plant, machinery and 
equipment in operation on site in order to aid prevention of noise nuisance. Compliance with 
BS 5228: Part 1: 1984 and subsequent amendments regarding the use of equipment on site 
will be required in appropriate cases. 

ii. A suitable method of control shall be used in order to aid prevention of dust nuisance 
arising from work activities on site. 

iii. Burning of waste materials shall not be carried out on site. Such materials are to be stored 
in a suitable receptacle, as far from residential accommodation as reasonably practicable, 
pending disposal off site. 

iv. Adequate arrangements shall be made to remove all waste material from the site on a 
regular basis and to dispose of it at a suitably licensed waste disposal site. 

2  DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS 

It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as a 
‘material’ change requiring a further application/permission. In the event that any change is 
proposed, applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority [as 
proceeding without the necessary permissions could nullify this permission. 

Page 27



Planning Committee 2.03.2022

8

3 BUILDING REGULATIONS CONSENT 

The granting of planning permission is independent from the granting of Building Regulations 
consent (which may, or may not, be required). In the event of a change to the scheme 
granted planning permission being required to satisfy the Building Regulations, applicants are 
advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority [as proceeding without the 
necessary permissions could nullify this permission. 

4 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-
MAKING 

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has 
approached the assessment and determination of this application in a positive and creative 
way and, where appropriate, has worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a 
development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development Plan for the area.

5 SMOKE CONTROL 

The proposed development is situated in a smoke control area. As such, only authorised 
smokeless fuels as listed in the Smoke Control Areas (Authorised Fuels) Regulations 1991 
shall be burnt or fireplaces/appliances exempted by Smoke Control (Exempted Fireplaces) 
Orders shall be utilised. Exempt appliances are appliances (ovens including pizza and 
tandoori ovens, wood burners and stoves) which have been exempted by Statutory 
Instruments (Orders) under the Clean Air Act 1993. These have passed tests to confirm that 
they are capable of burning an unauthorised or inherently smoky solid fuel without emitting 
smoke. They must be fitted and used according to manufacturer's instructions and they can 
only be used for the fuel for which they are designed. 

When purchasing fuels and fireplaces the applicant should clarify with the vendor their 
suitability with respect to use in Smoke Control Areas. For further information, including 
confirmation that an appliance and/or fuel is suitable for use in a smoke control area, the 
applicant should contact the Council's Regulatory Services air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk. 

6 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION 

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby approved is 
commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where required are obtained 
and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any 
enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. 

Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not look 
like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 'highway land'. Some 
of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third party 
owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have 'highway rights' over the topsoil.

Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-
boundary-enquiries   

Page 28

mailto:air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries


Planning Committee 2.03.2022

9

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every 
aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important 
for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the 
works prior to commencement on site. 

7   It is recommended that appropriate provision should be made for the secure parking of 
motorcycles at the property, to include at least two spaces, along with an electric 
charging point for battery powered motorcycles

Refusal:    4 Members
Approved: 5 Members

Note: (a) Mrs Mandeep Dosanjh (in favour) addressed the Committee
(b) Mr Kulbinder Dio (objector) addressed the Committee.
(c) Mrs Julia Davies (objector) addressed the Committee.
(d) Ward Councillor Baljit Hayre spoke with the leave of the Chair Ward Councillor 
(e) Ward Councillor Jenny Wallace spoke with the leave of the Chair

47.2 20211309 - G And M Motors 85 Milton Road Gravesend Kent 

Cllr Rice left the meeting during the discussion and voting on this item. 

The Committee considered 20211309 in relation to G And M Motors 85 Milton Road 
Gravesend Kent. The application was for outline planning permission with all matters 
reserved and being for demolition of existing workshop and erection of a single storey
building with valet booth, video/photographic studio and parts store together with the laying 
out of 6 car parking spaces.

The Planning Officer introduced application 20211309 to the Committee and highlighted key 
points from the report. 

 The application site is located to the rear (north) of the site and within the urban area 
of Gravesend on the outskirts of town. To the east is St Peter and St Paul Church, a 
Grade 2* Listed Building. The remaining street scene is very mixed.   

 The proposed elevations are indicative only. As this is an outline application, details 
such as design, materials and finish would be dealt with under a later reserved 
matters application. 

 The proposed floor plans are indicative but highlighted the proposed use as the 
replacement building ancillary to the existing showroom. 

 A proposed parking plan showed the outline of the replacement building and the 
surrounding parking, again this would be assessed under reserved matters. 

 Planning balance – in paragraph 11 of the NPPF applies presumption in favour of 
sustainable development that accord with development plan policies. 

 The proposed development supports an existing business and commercial use of the 
showroom and preserves the character of the area. 

 The proposal would accord with local and national policies, in particular Local Plan 
CS07 which states that particular support will be given to the refurbishment and 
upgrading of existing commercial premises. 

In response to Members questions on the clarification of the application, the Planning Officer 

Page 29



Planning Committee 2.03.2022

10

explained that:

 The applicant did not give a reason as to why they were seeking outline planning 
permission. 

 This application is just for a single storey ancillary use to the showroom in comparison 
to similar applications that have been previously rejected. If they were planning on a 
two-storey building, a separate planning application would need to be submitted. 

 The Chair asked if outline planning applications were frequently used and why they 
took this route rather than submitting normal planning applications. The Service 
Manager (Planning) explained that maybe they are seeking approval of use and 
consent before the applicant spends additional funds on the application. 

 The Service Manager (Planning) confirmed that if the Committee did grant permission, 
they could condition the application under the Scheme of Delegation that the 
application be brought back to a future Committee. 

 Due to the proximity of the railway, the applicant would need to engage with Network 
Rail as to how they would get construction materials onto site which would not have a 
detrimental impact on the railway.

 The proposal will incorporate the provision for 6 parking spaces for staff.
 There will be no detrimental impact on the residents of Elm Cottage.
 The actual footprint would be increased by 105m². 
 The trees to the north of the site are outside the properties boundary and are currently 

a buffer created by Network Rail. The Service Manager (Planning) confirmed that 
those trees are not covered by a tree preservation order and the applicant would be 
able to cut the trees back to their boundary, if required. 

The Committee heard from Cllr Lee Croxton, a Ward Councillor for Riverside Ward. Cllr 
Croxton’s concerns are that as this is for outline planning permission with all matters 
reserved, the detailed information is not included in this proposal and would be difficult to 
determine without this information. There have been issues with parking generally in that area 
and this will increase. This area is one of the densest of housing in the entire borough.  

The Committee heard from Cllr Lenny Rolles, who is also a Ward Councillor for Riverside 
Ward. He reiterated Cllr Croxton’s comments about issues regarding parking and there have 
been complaints with dealership cars being parked on the pavement and with the reduction of 
spaces this will become an issue. Cllr L Rolles was concerned about the proximity to Elm 
Cottage and the necessity of outdoor space for those residents and if this development goes 
close that will be impacted. This site, if outline planning permission was given, parking spaces 
would be reduced with a serious impact on residents living in that area.   

The Chair confirmed that parking and the impact on residents is a material planning 
consideration. 

The Planning Officer confirmed that Gravesham’s Highway Officer assessed the outline 
planning application and highlighted issues with parking. Currently there are no parking 
restrictions in place but if granted, Condition 4 of the Reserved Matters could be brought to 
the Committee to provide an opportunity for the management of the parking spaces to be put 
into place. 

Members expressed with the lack of information in the outline planning application they were 
minded to reject this application. The Service Manager (Planning) clarified that Members 
would need to refuse the application on specific items. 

Page 30



Planning Committee 2.03.2022

11

The Chair and Cllr Mulheran recommended planning permission was not granted due to the 
impact on highways and the local highway network and this was seconded by Cllr Craske. 

Resolved that the application 20211309 for outline planning permission be REFUSED on the 
following ground;

1. The application fails to demonstrate sufficient parking provision to serve the 
development or reprovision of existing parking provision which would be displaced, 
without having an unacceptable impact on the surrounding highway network. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to the requirements of Policy CS11 (Transport) of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 and the provisions of Section 9 (Promoting 
Sustainable Transport) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

Refusal:    Unanimous 
Cllr Rice was not present for this item and, therefore, not voting

Note: (a) Ward Councillor Lee Croxton spoke with the leave of the Chair
(b) Ward Councillor Lenny Rolles spoke with the leave of the Chair

48. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Environment) under delegated 
powers had been published on the Council’s website.

49. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

There is no other business. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.15pm.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Finance and Audit Committee

Tuesday, 8 March 2022 7.30 pm

Present: 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)  

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden
John Caller 
Dakota Dibben 
Samir Jassal 
Nirmal Khabra 
Jordan Meade 
Elizabeth Mulheran 

Lisa Nyon 
James Larkin 

Andrew Barnett 

Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services (Chief Audit 
Executive) 
Principal Accountant (General Fund) 

Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 

144. Apologies for absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Emma Morley and Cllr John Caller attended 
as her substitute. 

145. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. 

The minutes of the meeting on Monday, 14 February 2022 were signed by the Chair.

146. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Gow declared an Other Significant Interest as an appointed Board Member of Rosherville 
Limited, the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company.

147. Review of Accounting Policies 2021-22 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) presented a review of the Accounting Policies that 
are to be used in formulating the Financial Statements for the authority for the financial year 
2021-22. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) advised Members that although this review is not a 
statutory requirement CIPFA recommends that it is good practice for authorities to take their 
Accounting Policies through the relevant Committees.   

Page 33 Agenda Item 5c



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022

2

There had been no substantial changes to the CIPFA Code that had been identified that 
would influence the Council’s Accounting Policies for 2021-22.

As set out in section 3 of the report, CIPFA announced a consultation which the council had 
recently responded to. The proposed changes to the Accounting Code could have an impact 
on the preparation of the 2021-22 accounts. These proposed changes would help alleviate 
current delays to the publication of audited accounts across the country. The proposal would 
allow a “catch-up” period over the next 2 years so that by 2024-25 the timescales would be 
back on track. 

Due to the given timescales of the consultation and our committee cycle the consultation 
was submitted on Friday 4 March 2022 and the outcome will not be known until the end of 
March, therefore any changes that have come out of the consultation will have to be 
reflected in accounting policies and will be communicated to subsequent committees. 

Following questions and comments from Members, the Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
explained that:

 Regarding item 2.3 in the report, St George’s Shopping Centre, there has been some 
progress made with this and the council is receiving external consultancy advice to 
look at the documents regarding the transaction and that the council is liaising with its 
external auditors regarding this work. 

 With regard to the consultation, the Principal Accountant confirmed that a copy of the 
council’s response to the consultation could be shared with the Committee, along 
with the headlines of the outcome itself once known. The outcome is due at the end 
of March but there is no guarantee that all or any of it will be become mandatory or 
adopted within the accounting code. The main factor behind the consultation is that 
CIPFA recognises that throughout the country, many authorities have outstanding 
audits of accounts for 2019-20 and 2021-22, and are therefore looking for practical 
ways to alleviate this. 

Resolved that: 

1. Members are asked to endorse the use of the Accounting Policies as outlined at 
Appendix One to this report, subject to comments from the Council’s external auditor. 

2. Members are asked to endorse any updates to the Accounting Policies as resulting 
from the recent CIPFA consultation regarding emergency proposals for the update of 
the 2021/22 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.

148. Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) presented the Committee with the outcome of 
the annual risk identification and analysis exercise that had been carried out to assist in the 
development of Gravesham Borough Council's Corporate Risk Register for 2022-2023 and 
explained that:

 The Risk Management Strategy sets out the approach the council has adopted for 
identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks.

 The strategy itself is reviewed on an annual basis by Officers and there have been no 
substantial amendments or updates to the strategy policy since last year. 

Page 34



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022

3

 The risk identification and analysis assessment document sets out the detail of all the 
risks that have been considered by Officers when producing the draft Corporate Risk 
Register together with the outcomes of those assessments. 

 The risks that have generated to a high residual risk score of 10 and above are 
included in the draft 2022-23 Risk Register. 

 Additional risks identified as part of the exercise however were not considered high 
enough to be included in the Corporate Risk Register were:  

 Universal Credit 
 IT Infrastructure
 Adoption and delivery of a sound Local Plan

These will be managed at service level. 

On page 63 of the report the Draft Corporate Risk Register included comments and 
amendments suggested by Management Team and Senior Officers. The top 5 risks are 
identified for inclusion are: 

 On-going financial viability 
 Changes in national priorities and legislation
 Organisational resilience and capacity
 Cyberattack and data breaches 
 Investment risk

Following questions and comments from Members, the Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services) explained that:

 All risks are monitored throughout the year and the council has recently established a 
Risk Management Working Group to oversee this process. There are representations 
from each Directorate on this group who review the risks at service level and 
corporate risk level and identifies any merging risks. The last meeting of this group 
took place in February with another meeting due to take place in May. 

 With regards to recent events in Ukraine and the possible increased threat to cyber 
security, this risk is continually monitored by the Assistant Director (IT Services) with 
any updates reported to the Risk Management Working Group. 

 Inflation risk is covered within risk 1 “on-going financial viability of the council”. This 
risk covers the majority of financial risk. Within the MTFP there is a budget line for 
inflation provision and this was reviewed at the time of budget setting. 

 Explanations regarding the various risk types are found at page 64. Regarding 
inherent risk, residual risk and target risk – the residual risk score should result in a 
decrease as this considers the controls that are put in place to help mitigate the risk.  
The target risk score is where the council would like to be as this considers 
improvement to existing controls.  

 The council has written to all its external fund managers and responses have been 
received which confirm that they have not identified any exposure to Russian 
investments.

Page 35



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022

4

Resolved that Members are requested to review the draft Corporate Risk Register 
for 2022-23 prior to presentation to Cabinet.

149. CIPFA Financial Management Code 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) provided the Committee with an overview of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountants (CIPFA) Financial Management Code 
2019, along with an annual self-assessment that was undertaken in February 2022 to 
identify compliance and areas for further consideration.

The latest self-assessment demonstrated compliance with the code with no significant 
amendments to be made. These self-assessments will be carried out annually and will be 
brought to the March Committee each year. 

Resolved that the Finance and Audit Committee are requested to note:  

• The findings of the annual self-assessment

150. Internal Audit Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
presented the Committee for approval of the Internal Audit Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) for 2022-23.

This enables the evaluation of the internal audit activity’s conformance with the Definition of 
Internal Auditing and the Standards, an evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the 
Code of Ethics and also the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal audit activity and 
whether there are opportunities for improvement. 

The QAIP, for short, is reviewed annually to ensure it meets the requirements set out in the 
Standards and that will reflect the work of the service.  

As outlined in the report, the document had a complete refresh this year, to remove any 
references of counter fraud activity as the Officers are no longer in multi-disciplinary roles.

Paragraphs 2.3.1 to 2.3.4 in the covering report provide the key changes. The aim is to 
ensure Members receive the most relevant information and data used to calculate the 
outturns have been adjusted to ensure more accurate detail around internal audit.  

Although the counter fraud indicators are no longer included in the QAIP, there are still a 
number of performance measures relating to counter fraud activity but these are now listed 
in the Counter Fraud Plan.   

Resolved that Members approved the QAIP presented at Appendix 2 for use in 2022-23.

151. Internal Audit Plan (Q1-Q2) 2022-23 

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services (Chief Audit Executive) 
presented for approval the Internal Audit Plan (Q1-Q2) 2022-23 for Gravesham.

Page 36



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022

5

The council is required to prepare an audit plan outlining how internal audit resources will be 
used throughout the year.  

While a draft plan has been prepared for the full 12 months, Appendix 2 of the report outlines 
the plan for the first six months of the year. The purpose of this change in approach is to 
ensure that audit resources are being directed to the council’s highest areas of risk 
throughout the year. 

The risk assessment was completed in January which is three months before the 
commencement of work and there is a high possibility that the risk landscape could change.

In July, the Audit Risk Assessment will be refreshed and used to update the current second 
half of the year plan based on any changes to risk landscape or legislative requirements.  
The plan for the second half of the year will be presented to this Committee alongside the 
first update in September.

This is to enable the service to be more responsive to changes, manage resources in a more 
efficient manner and ensure we continue to focus audit resources in the highest risk areas. 

The Risk Assessment or Audit Needs Assessment was completed after consultation with 
Directors and senior Managers to consider their views on the risks for each service in the 
coming year and the draft plan was also shared to identify any timing issues as early as 
possible. That has partly determined what has been selected for the first part of the year. 

Members will note that there are some changes to the layout of the plan, the day allocation 
for individual reviews are no longer included. As part of the planning process, each review 
has been allocated an indicative figure of 15 days but the Internal Audit Manager will have 
the freedom to reduce or increase that allocation to ensure the review provides the right level 
of assurance. 

The update reports presented to the Committee will continue to specify the number of days 
that have eventually been allocated to each review and will report the number of days taken 
to actually complete the review.

There are specific links to the corporate risk register in the plan which were highlighted from 
the last external quality assessment to focus on the council’s risk areas.  

Following questions and comments from Members, the Head of Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Services (Chief Audit Executive) explained that:

 There is no upper limit to the 15 workings days to complete a review, but they are 
unlikely to exceed more than 20 days. The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Services (Chief Audit Executive) was not aware of other council’s setting 
upper limits. 

 The Chair was glad to see the link to the Corporate Risk Register and asked about 
the weighting scores. The HIACF explained that the assessment covers a full list of 
auditable areas of all council services based on the objectives in the council plan. 
There are six different areas with weighting scores and a range score of 1-5 to 
produce an overall assessment score. The highest scoring areas are selected for 
review, while also considering when it was last reviewed.  

Page 37



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022

6

Resolved that Members approved the Internal Audit Plan (Q1-Q2) 2022-23 for 
Gravesham presented at Appendix 2.

152. Counter Fraud Plan 2022-23 

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
presented for approval the Counter Fraud Plan for 2022-23.

Since 1 March 2016 the council’s counter fraud activity has been delivered by the Internal 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service with Medway Council. Planned counter fraud activity 
has previously been included as part of an overall plan for Audit & Counter Fraud as officers 
were working in multi-disciplinary roles. Following a return to designated roles, and in line 
with recommended best practice, a separate work plan had been produced to cover all 
counter fraud activity and provide more detail around the work of the Counter Fraud Team 
than has previously been specified in the joint plans.

The Counter Fraud plan for 2022-23 had been designed to show how the council will aim to 
use the available resource and demonstrate all the activity that the Counter Fraud team are 
involved in.  

This new plan gives an indication of how we intend to use the resources but it has to been 
noted that some of the activity may be aspirational. For example, if the team already has a 
significant number of cases to investigate, it is unlikely that pro-active activity to identify 
further cases would be undertaken as there would be no resource available to deal with 
them.

The plan contains a number of performance measures for the counter fraud team but many 
do not have targets as these are beyond the control of the service. Members will receive 
details of the outturns against these indicators as part of the periodic update reports.

Following questions and comments from Members, the Head of Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) explained that:

 There Internal Audit team now consists of an Audit Manager, one senior internal 
auditor and six Internal Auditors. The Counter Fraud Team consists of the Counter 
Fraud Manager, two Counter Fraud Officers and two Intelligence Officers. 

 The two counter fraud investigators are new to the role but are delivering very good 
results.   

Resolved that Members approved the Counter Fraud Plan 2022-23 presented at 
Appendix 2.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.02 pm

Page 38



1

Cabinet

Monday, 21 March 2022 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Lauren Sullivan
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Note: Cllr Baljit Hayre, Leslie Hills and Jordan Meade were also in attendance. 

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive 
Nick Brown Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive 
Daniel Killian Director (Housing) 
Melanie Norris Director (Communities) 
Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
Nicole Arthur Service Manager (Housing Operations)
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager (Minutes)

24. Apologies 

No apologies for absence were received.

25. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Monday 21 February 2022 were signed by the Chair.

26. Declarations of Interest 

Councillor Lenny Rolles declared an interest in agenda items 14 - Rosherville Business Plan 
2022-25 and 15 - Establishment of Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance Local Authority 
Trading Company as he is a Director and Chair of the Rosherville Limited Board. Cllr Lenny 
Rolles left the Chamber during consideration of these items. 

27. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

No decisions other than those already circulated had been made.

Page 39 Agenda Item 5d



Cabinet 21.03.2022

2

28. The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) Wave 1 funding award 

The Cabinet was informed that the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) Wave 1 
was released by the Department of Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) on 23 
August 2021 and invited Registered Providers of social housing including Private and Local 
Authority, to apply for funding to be used to improve the energy performance of social 
housing. 

The key rules for the use of the funding were that eligible homes must be within EPC bands 
D, E, F and G, ensuring that priority was given to the worst energy performing homes. The 
aim was to raise the EPC ratings of these homes to band C, in preparation for the 
widespread adoption of decarbonised heating systems. Works should also meet the space 
heating requirement of 90kwh/m²/yr and justification should be provided for each property if 
this was not likely to be met. 

The Council applied for the funding and was notified on 7 February 2022 that it had been 
successful in its bid of £823,337.11, with Gravesham being only one of two Councils in Kent 
to secure the funding. 

The funding will contribute 51% towards the total project cost of £1,623,507.78 with 
Gravesham contributing the remaining 49%, £800,170.67. 

The Service Manager (Housing Operations) advised that 364 properties with a range of EPC 
bandings D-F had been identified using the Council’s energy performance database 
software, Parity Portfolio. These properties will benefit from a range of fabric measures 
consisting of external wall insulation, double glazing, loft and cavity wall insulation.

Project delivery timescales had been set by BEIS and the initial completion date of 31 
January 2023 had been extended to 31 March 2023, providing one year to procure a partner 
and deliver the project.

The Cabinet thanked the Service Manager (Housing Operations) and her team for their hard 
work in securing the bid.

Resolved that 

1. the grant award notification be noted and the decision to accept the award 
taken by the Director (Housing), in consultation with the S.151 Officer be 
ratified; and

2. the addition of the project to the current year capital programme be approved, 
recognising that 51% of the cost of the project is to be met from external 
funding and 49% funded by the Council.

29. Procurement of DSO Building Management Contracts 

The Cabinet was informed that, as a landlord, Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) had a 
statutory duty to ensure its housing stock was properly maintained, that equipment was 
serviced and that any responsive repairs were completed within a timely manner and it was 
essential that external service providers were in place to assist with the delivery of required 
works. 

Page 40



Cabinet 21.03.2022

3

The Council’s current Procurement Strategy actively encourages the use of frameworks, 
which consist of a list of pre-approved suppliers for effective procurement arrangements via 
mini-tender or direct award to deliver high quality services to tenants. 

The report detailed the following contracts which were due to expire along with the relevant 
frameworks, annual levels of anticipated capital spend, total contract value and duration of 
contract:-

 Cyclical Decorating (Axis Europe) 
 Roofing Replacements (Breyer Group)
 Wet Rooms & Level Access (Pilon)
 Mobility Lifts (Apex Lifts)
 Water Hygiene (H20 Nationwide Ltd)
 Asbestos Surveys (Riverside) Asbestos Removals (PA Group)

In addition to the above, the Council would also need to procure the following contracts:-

 Energy Efficiency Measures (Whole House Retrofit) - includes loft, cavity, external 
wall insulation and Solar PV)

 Energy Efficiency Measures (Ground Source Heat Pumps) – Renewable energy and 
heating technology

The contracts will be procured via the South East Consortium.

The Service Manager (Housing Operations) advised that the Public Services (Social Value) 
Act came into force on 31 January 2013. It required those who commission public services 
to think about how they can also secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits. 
Prospective contractors will be asked as part of the process to outline what social value 
commitments they could bring to GBC if they were successful.

The Cabinet requested that local companies be offered the opportunity to be prospective 
contractors for GBC as this would contribute toward the Council’s climate change strategy.

Resolved that the that the Director (Housing) in consultation with the S151 Officer 
and Lead Member be given delegated authority to conduct the procurement process 
and award the contracts for DSO Building Management using procurement 
frameworks by way of mini tender and direct award as outlined in the report.

30. LGA Peer Challenge - Action Plan Update 

The Cabinet was informed that that in October 2019, the Council welcomed a Peer 
Challenge Team from the Local Government Association (LGA) onsite in order for them to 
undertake a Corporate Peer Challenge of the Council. This was then followed-up with a 
further virtual review undertaken by the LGA in March 2021. 

As a result of the follow-up review, the Peer Challenge Team prepared a short report setting 
out their findings; the team reviewed progress against the actions resulting from the original 
review in October 2019 and recommended a number of follow-up actions. 

Page 41



Cabinet 21.03.2022

4

The Peer Challenge report and accompanying action plan was presented to the Cabinet in 
September 2021 and it was agreed that a report be brought back to the Cabinet in March 
2022 to provide an update on progress against the revised action plan.

Appendix one to the report provided Members with a copy of the action plan that was 
previously agreed along with updates against each of the actions identified. 22 actions, in 
total, were identified with one action being signed off by the Peer Challenge Team in their 
follow up review. The action plan set out 10 recommendations, with 21 individual action 
points. 15 action points had been fully completed (71%) with the remaining six action points 
(29%) due to be completed by the end of the 2022 calendar year. However, all outstanding 
actions were underway and five of those were due to be completed in the next two months. 

The Chief Executive highlighted that some of the recommendations referred to the Local 
Plan and that the delivery of the Plan was heavily dependent on elements that were under 
the control of external organisations. 

In relation to hybrid working, the Leader advised that he was supportive of hybrid working, 
however, with regard to hybrid meetings he felt that further work needed to be undertaken to 
align both the equipment and systems as the current setup was not suitable. Hybrid 
meetings would not be introduced until 2023. 

Moving forward, the actions outstanding will be included within the operational business 
plans for the relevant departments and will form part of the department’s regular 
performance monitoring processes. Officers will ensure that Members are kept abreast of 
these activities through the regular briefings with the Leader of the Executive and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holders.

The Cabinet thanked officers for the work that had been undertaken to date resulting in 71% 
of the actions being completed particularly in light of the COVID pandemic.
 
The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

31. Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023 

The Cabinet was informed that the Risk Management Strategy set out the approach that had 
been adopted by the Council for identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks to 
which it is exposed. A review of the strategy is carried out annually and, where necessary, 
presented to the Cabinet for approval if it is subject to any updates and amendments. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that no material updates or amendments to the 
Strategy were necessary. 

In preparing the draft Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23, Management Team, Senior 
Officers and Members were requested to provide details of existing risks that continue to 
score high and should be carried forward to the 2022- 2023 register and to provide details of 
any new risks that should be considered for assessment and inclusion. The risks identified 
were as follows:-

Page 42



Cabinet 21.03.2022

5

Existing risks
1. Ongoing financial viability of the council
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation
3. Organisational capacity/resilience
4. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data
5. Investment Risk

New risks
1. Universal Credit 
2. IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation 
3. Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan 

The risks that generated a “high” residual risk score and were above the Council’s strategic 
risk tolerance level had been included in the 2022-2023 register. These risks were:- 

1. On-going financial viability of the council. 
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation. 
3. Organisational Capacity reliance. 
4. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data. 
5. Investment Risk. 
6. Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the draft register had been considered by the 
Finance and Audit Committee on 7 March 2022. Progress made against the actions in 
relation to each risk recorded in the register will be monitored quarterly by the Risk 
Management Working Group and progress information will be presented via a half yearly 
report to the Finance & Audit Committee. 

In relation to risk 2 (Changes in national priorities and legislative change), it was requested 
that the risk also refers to local changes as local changes can have a significant impact on 
the Council and its priorities, budgets etc. 

The Leader highlighted that the Local Plan had been included in the register (risk 8). The 
Council was required to have an up to date Local Plan in place by the end of 2023 or face 
government sanction/intervention that could result in the Council losing its control to protect 
the Borough from inappropriate or poor quality development.

In relation to risk 8, it was requested that the ‘Cabinet Portfolio’ section be updated to state 
the relevant Portfolio instead of an individual name. 

The Chief Executive informed the Cabinet that he had attended the District Councils’ 
Network conference which was also attended by the Minister for Housing. The Chief 
Executive provided Members with an update on the areas that were discussed at the 
conference.

Resolved that, subject to the above amendments being made to risks 2 and 8, the 
Corporate Risk Register that has been developed for 2022-2023 be approved prior to 
it being presented to Council.

Page 43



Cabinet 21.03.2022

6

32. Support for energy bills - the Council Tax Rebate 2022/2023 

The Cabinet was informed that on 3 February 2022, the Government announced a package 
of support known as the Energy Bills Rebate to help households with rising energy bills, 
worth £9.1 billion in 2022-2023. This included:-

 £200 discount on their energy bill this autumn for domestic electricity customers in 
Great Britain. This will be paid back automatically over the next 5 years;

 £150 non-repayable rebate for households in England in council tax bands A – D, 
known as the Council Tax Rebate; and

 £144 million of discretionary funding for billing authorities to support households who 
are in need but are not eligible for the Council Tax Rebate, known as the 
Discretionary Fund.

The Director (Corporate Services) informed Members that a total £5,546,250 had been 
allocated to the Council. The sum consisted of:-

 £5,297,100 for the core scheme of Council Tax Rebate 2022-2023. This was 
equivalent of paying £150 to 35,314 households, which was required to be distributed 
to eligible households by 30 September 2022; and 

 £249,150 for the discretionary fund. This was equivalent of paying £150 to 1,661 
households, which was required to be distributed by 30 November 2022. 

In relation to the Council Tax Rebate, the Government had provided an explanatory 
sentence and information leaflet to be included in council tax demand notices (bills) issued to 
households. Where the Council holds live direct debit instructions for a liable council 
taxpayer of an eligible household, the guidance states that an automatic payment should be 
made as early as possible in the 2022-23 financial year, provided that there was assurance 
that the household was eligible and the bank details had been verified. At the time of 
preparing the report, bank details were held for 20,285 council tax payers out of 36,113 
properties in band A-D in the Borough. There had been press coverage to encourage Direct 
Debit take-up since late February. Where the Council does not hold live direct debit 
instructions for an eligible household, all reasonable efforts to contact the household will be 
made to make them aware of the scheme and invite them to make a claim. 

In relation to the Discretionary Fund, the guidance advised that the Council could determine 
locally how best to make use of this funding to provide payments to other households who 
were energy bill payers but not covered by the Council Tax Rebate. This could include 
households living in properties valued in bands E – H (currently 6,463 properties) that were 
on income related benefits such as Council Tax Reduction (currently 233 claimants in bands 
E-H) or those where the energy bills payers were not liable for council tax. The Director 
(Corporate Services) advised that the intention would be to work closely with colleagues 
across Kent to ensure commonality with the discretionary scheme. 

The service will also work closely with the Communications Team, Digital Team and 
Customer Services to ensure that households were provided with clear and timely 
information about the Council Tax Rebate scheme and Discretionary Fund.

Members expressed concern regarding the allocation process, potential shortfall, the burden 
that had been placed on local authorities at such a critical time and potential complaints that 
may be received following the cut-off dates. 

Page 44



Cabinet 21.03.2022

7

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that there would be a shortfall in the funds 
allocated however the Council had been advised that there will possibly be a reconciliation 
exercise later in 2022. The Chief Executive will be raising this via the District Councils’ 
Network. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that she would keep the Leader informed on the 
operation of the scheme, indicative costs etc.  

Resolved that:-

1. delegated authority be given to the Director (Corporate Services), in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Performance & Administration, to 
develop a discretionary Council Tax Rebate scheme and associated policy, 
and to make the necessary arrangements to assess eligibility and determine 
award of funding to eligible households; and 

2. delegated authority be given to the Director (Corporate Services) to make any 
further technical amendments to the scheme where further government 
advice is issued and ensure that the Portfolio Holder for Performance & 
Administration is kept informed of any such amendments required.

33. Minutes of meeting of Climate Change Advisory Board 

The Cabinet noted the minutes of the Climate Change Advisory Board held on Monday 24 
January 2022. 

34. Exclusion 

Resolved that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that 
the public be excluded during the following item of business because it was likely in 
view of the nature of business to be transacted that, if members of the public were 
present during the item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

35. Rosherville Business Plan 2022-25 

The Cabinet was presented with the business plan for Rosherville Limited for the period 
2022-25.

Resolved that the business plan for Rosherville Limited at appendix one be 
approved. 

Note: Cllr Lenny Rolles left the Chamber during consideration of this item.

Page 45



Cabinet 21.03.2022

8

36. Establishment of Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance Local Authority Trading 
Company 

The Cabinet was presented with a business case, on behalf of the Board of Rosherville 
Limited, for the formation of a subsidiary company – Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance 
Limited.

Resolved that:-

1. the formation of the Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance Limited subsidiary 
company, including the provision of £66,623 seed funding to assist the company 
with initial set up costs be approved; and

2. authority be provided for the Director (Housing) in conjunction with the 
Rosherville Limited Company Secretary to make the necessary arrangements to 
register the company with Companies House.

Note: Cllr Lenny Rolles left the Chamber during consideration of this item.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.00 pm

Page 46



Classification: Public 
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Council

Date: 12 April 2022

Reporting officer: Monitoring Officer

Subject: Independent Remuneration Panel

Purpose and summary of report: 
To re-appoint two of the existing Members and one new Member to the Independent 
Remuneration Panel for a period of four years. This will enable the 2022 review of the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme to be carried out in a timely manner.
Recommendations:

1. That the following persons be appointed to serve on the Independent Remuneration 
Panel, with their term of office expiring on 1 April 2026:-

 Jag Sidhu, Director of Nick Building Contractors Ltd;
 Jasvinder Gill, Senior Partner of Hatten Wyatt Solicitors; and 
 Julie Hobson, Partner of Gullands Solicitors. 

2. That a review of the Members’ Allowances Scheme be commenced immediately with 
a report being submitted to a future meeting of the Council setting out the 
Independent Remuneration Panel’s recommendations.

Key Implications:
Item Implications
Legal Local authorities are required to establish and maintain an 

Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) to comply with the 
requirements of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003. The primary function of the IRP is to 
make recommendations to the Council in respect of its Members’ 
Allowances Scheme including basic allowances, special 
responsibility allowances, travel and subsistence and 
childcare/dependent carers’ allowances.

Finance and Value for 
Money

The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003 allow for appropriate expenses incurred by an 
IRP established under paragraph (1)(a) or (1)(b) in carrying out its 
functions and may pay the Members of the Panel such allowances 
or expenses. 

There could also be budget implications in the future if the 
Council, at a future meeting, resolved to approve any 

Page 47 Agenda Item 7



2

recommended amendments, made by the Panel, to the level of 
allowances provided to Members.

Corporate Plan #3 Progress - Successfully Manage Key Business Risks: embed a 
culture of compliance with all policy, constitutional and legislative 
demands. 

Climate Change There are no specific climate change implications resulting from 
this report.

1. Introduction

1.1 Local authorities are required to establish and maintain an Independent 
Remuneration Panel (IRP) to comply with the requirements of the Local 
Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The primary 
function of the IRP is to make recommendations to the Council in respect of its 
Members’ Allowances Scheme including basic allowances, special responsibility 
allowances, travel and subsistence and childcare/dependent carers’ allowances.

1.2 The last review of the Members’ Allowances Scheme was undertaken in 2017. 
One of the recommendations of the IRP, approved by the Council, was that the 
allowances be increased in line with any pay awards given to Gravesham 
Borough Council staff. The Regulations state that ‘Where an authority has regard 
to an index for the purpose of annual adjustment of allowances it must not rely on 
that index for longer than a period of four years before seeking a further 
recommendation from the independent remuneration panel established in respect 
of that authority on the application of an index to its scheme’. Therefore, as the 
allowances have been adjusted annually over the last four years, the Council is 
now required to review its scheme.

2. Independent Remuneration Panel

2.1 The IRP was appointed by the Council in 2016, the Members of the Panel were: - 

 Idowu Anthony-Ajileye, Tonidol (UK) Ltd;
 Jag Sidhu, Director of Nick Building Contractors Ltd;
 Jasvinder Gill, Senior Partner of Hatten Wyatt Solicitors; and 
 David Brown, Partner of Gullands Solicitors.

2.2 The terms of office of the Panel have now expired therefore a new Panel needs to 
be appointed in order to carry out the 2022 review.

2.3 The Panel must comprise of no less than three and no more than five persons, 
none of whom is formally connected with the Council, has a publicly declared 
political affiliation and/or has been found guilty of a criminal offence. They must 
not, however, be disqualified from being a member of a local authority. The Panel 
must be independent, well-qualified to discharge its functions and be 
representative of a broad cross-section of local communities. 

2.4 Persons appointed to the Panel may each serve for a period of four years from the 
date of their appointment and may be re-appointed on the expiry of their term of 
office, subject to no person serving on the Panel for more than a total of eight 
years.

Page 48



3

2.5 The Protocol for the Appointment of an IRP is set out in Annex 3.7 of the Council’s 
Constitution. 

2.6 Two of the existing Members of the IRP have indicated a willingness to serve on 
the Panel for a further four-year term. Approval of their re-appointment would 
enable them to use their existing experience to carry out the 2022 review and 
make recommendations to the Council in a timely manner. 

2.7 David Brown no longer works at the Gravesend Branch of Gullands Solicitors and 
has put forward Julie Hobson for consideration as she is now the Head of the 
Gravesend Branch. It is proposed that Julie Hobson be appointed to the IRP. 

3. Timetable of the 2022 review 

3.1 Subject to the Council’s approval of the recommendations, work on the 2022 
review will commence immediately. It is proposed that a desktop study be 
undertaken to allow the IRP to review a wide range of information including the 
committee meetings schedules, benchmarking data, statutory guidance and 
relevant regulations etc. On conclusion of the review, the Panel will submit a 
report to council in May setting out its recommendations.

4. Appendices

4.1 There are no appendices. 

5. Background Documents 

5.1 The following background documents were used: 

 Standards Committee – 27 July and 27 September 2016;

 Council – 11 October 2016 and 21 February 2017; and

 Annexes 1.19 and 3.7 of the Council’s Constitution.

Lead Officer: Committee Services Manager, Carlie Simmonds

Email: carlie.simmonds@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 49

mailto:carlie.simmonds@gravesham.gov.uk


4

Secondary Implications
Risk Assessment There is no particular risk attendant upon appointing a Member of the IRP, however 

it is possible that a Member may subsequently become (or be found to have been) 
ineligible for appointment. At that point a termination of office followed by a new 
appointment will be necessary.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
The IRP is representative of a broad cross-section of local communities. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

Any decisions taken will be published on the Gravesham Borough Council website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no specific safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications 
resulting from this report.

Page 50

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Council

Date: 12 April 2022

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report informs Council of the outcome of the annual risk identification and analysis 
exercise and presents the Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23 for approval.

Recommendations:

1. Full Council are requested to approve the Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23.

Key Implications:
Item Implications

Legal There is a specific risk within the Register, which highlights the 
potential issues associated with proposed legislative changes that 
may affect the council moving forward.  Senior Management are 
being kept up to date with legislative change to ensure that they 
are able to be fully aware of potential changes proposed to assess 
how these may affect the council. 

Finance and Value for 
Money There are no financial or value for money implications arising from 

the Corporate Risk Register itself.
‘Ongoing financial viability of the Council’ is one of the key 
corporate risks identified within the Corporate Risk register and a 
specific update against this risk is included within appendix two. 

Corporate Plan The council’s arrangement to identify, assess and monitor 
strategic risks contribute to the delivery of Corporate Plan 
Objective #3: Progress: drive service improvement and corporate 
governance. 

Climate Change N/A

Page 51 Agenda Item 8



2

1. Introduction and Background

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council pursues a forward-looking and dynamic approach to 
delivering services to the local community and in doing so, the council is exposed to 
risk both in terms of threats and loss of opportunities.  The council recognises that 
risks are inevitable and in practice, cannot be entirely avoided.  Resultantly, the 
council will tolerate a certain degree of risk when pursuing objectives, executing 
strategies and delivering services. 

1.2 Responsibility for risk management runs throughout the council and specific roles 
and responsibilities have been identified so that risk management is embedded in the 
culture of the council.  Finance & Audit Committee have responsibility for monitoring 
the effective development and operation of risk management through:

 Reviewing any changes that have been made to the Risk Management 
Strategy, prior to presentation to Cabinet for approval.

 Reviewing the annual Corporate Risk Register, prior to presentation to 
Cabinet for approval.

 Considering progress made during the year, in managing or mitigating 
risks contained within the Corporate Risk Register.

 Identifying potential risks for inclusion in the annual Corporate Risk 
Register.

2.         Risk Management Strategy 2022-23

2.1 The Risk Management Strategy sets out the approach that has been adopted by the 
council for identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks to which it is 
exposed.  The primary intention of the strategy is to ensure that risk management is 
embedded into the daily operations of the council. The strategy recognises that good 
risk management will lead to good management, good performance, good 
stewardship of public money, good public engagement and ultimately, good 
outcomes for citizens and service users. 

2.2 In March 2011, it was agreed by Cabinet that the Risk Management Strategy would 
be reviewed on an annual basis and, where necessary, presented to Cabinet for 
approval if it was subject to updates and amendments resulting in material changes 
to the strategy. 

2.2.1 The Risk Management Strategy has been reviewed and there have been no 
substantial updates or amendments made to it.  The strategy will therefore not be 
presented for approval but is appended to the report as Appendix 1 for information.

3.     Desktop review of the corporate risk register

3.1 Prior to commencement of this year’s risk identification exercise, the Risk & 
Resilience Team (RRT) at Zurich Risk Services (ZRS), undertook a desktop review 
of the Council’s corporate risk register. Following completion of the desktop review, 
Zurich’s RRT made recommendations and observations with regards to:

 the presentation and format of the risk register; and 
 the articulation and the quality of risk information included in the register.

Page 52



3

3.3 In order to incorporate Zurich’s recommendations with regard to the presentation and 
format of the register, the risk register template has been amended to allow for:

 The inherent, residual and target risk scores to be seen on one line
 The corporate objective that each risk links to, to be recorded in the register.  

3.4 To ensure the articulation and quality of risk information included in the risk register 
is in line with Zurich’s recommendations, senior officers responsible for reviewing 
existing and new risks have been requested to:

 Consider how each risk will have an impact on the corporate objective it links 
to.

 Take a clean slate approach when analysing existing risks are to ensure they 
are assessed on an equal footing with new risks. This will also allow for 
existing risks to be sense checked, in order to establish whether or not they 
are still the main risks, if the descriptions are current and if the scoring is 
correct. 

 Provide clear information about what the Council is trying to manage. 
Information should include brief details of the specific event or situation (Risk) 
and what would make that happen (Trigger) as well as the Consequences.  

3 Draft Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023

3.1 In preparing the draft copy of the Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23, Management 
Team, Senior Officers and Members have been requested to provide details of 
existing risks that continue to score high and should be carried forward to the 2022-
2023 register and also to provide details of any new risks that should be considered 
for assessment and inclusion.

` Existing risks include;

1. Ongoing financial viability of the council.
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation.
3. Organisational capacity/resilience.
4. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data.
5. Investment Risk.

            
New risks include;

1. Universal Credit
2. IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation
3. Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan

3.3 A Risk Identification & Analysis Assessment can be found at Appendix 2 of this 
report. The document details all risks that have been considered when producing the 
draft 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register. 

3.3 All risks and the outcome of their assessment is summarised in the table and plotted
in the Heat Map below.

Page 53



4

Table of Risks Assessed for consideration

Risk Ref Risk Description
Inherent 

Risk
Residual 

Risk
Target 

Risk 
1 On-going financial viability of the council 20 12 9
2 Changes in national priorities and legislation 20 15 12
3 Organisational capacity/resilience 20 12 9
4 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 16 12 8
5 Investment risk 15 10 9
6 Adoption and deivery of sound Local Plan 16 12 9
7 Universal credit 15 6 9
8 IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation 20 9 2

Risk Heat Map (Residual Risk)

1 2 3 4

IMPACT

High Risk
Medium Risk Negligible Significant Serious Critical

Low Risk

Very Low 1

8 4

Low 2

High 4 1,3,6

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

Very High 5 5 2

Medium 3 7

3.4 The risks that have generated a “High” residual risk score and are above the 
council’s strategic risk tolerance level can be seen coloured in red and have been 
included in the 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register.  These risks are listed below and 
are included within the draft register which can be found at Appendix 3. 

1. On-going financial viability of the council.
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation.
3. Organisational Capacity reliance.
4. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data. 
5. Investment Risk.
6. Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan.

3.5 Risks that have been assessed and have generated either a medium or a low 
residual risk score have not been included in the Corporate Risk register. However, 
these risks will be managed at service level. 

Page 54



5

3.6 A draft copy of the Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23 was presented and reviewed 
at the Finance and Audit Committee held on 8th March 2022 and by Cabinet at the 
meeting held on 21st March 2022.

4. On-going monitoring of the Corporate Risk Register

4.1 Progress made against the actions in relation to each risk recorded in the Corporate  
Risk Register will be monitored quarterly by the Risk Management Working Group 
and progress information will be presented via a half yearly report to the Finance & 
Audit Committee.

5. Background Papers

5.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Page 55



Secondary Implications

Risk Assessment The regular review of strategic risks facing the council aids the council in managing 
risk effectively as a contribution to effective strategic decision-making.  It is 
important that the council’s approach to risk is reviewed on a regular basis by both 
officers and Members to ensure new risks are identified and action being taken to 
mitigate existing risks is effective

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder The risk of Crime and Disorder is considered in the annual review and development 
of the Corporate Risk Register.

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 56

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk Management Strategy 
2022-2023

Page 57



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Risk Management Strategy 

2022-2023 
 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 Gravesham Borough Council pursues a forward-looking and dynamic approach 

to delivering services to the local community, in doing so the authority is exposed 
to risk both in terms of threats and loss of opportunities. (The table in Appendix I 
provides a brief outline of the major elements of risk to which Gravesham 
Borough Council could potentially be exposed).  The authority recognises that 
risks are inevitable and, in practice, cannot be entirely avoided; therefore the 
council will tolerate a certain degree of risk when pursuing objectives, executing 
strategies and delivering services.   

 
1.2 The council will consider risk in most of its activities and decisions.  Reports to 

the council’s Management Team and Members require risks associated with the 
decision being taken to be considered.  The council’s project management 
approach also recognises the need to identify, manage and monitor risks as a 
contributing factor to effective project management. 

 
1.3 To ensure the council’s risk appetite remains reasonable and does not exceed 

acceptable levels the authority has adopted a prudential approach to risk taking, 
whereby decisions are made within the parameters of the council’s internal 
control arrangements as set out within the constitution. In addition, to help drive 
continuous improvement and promote good risk management practices, a Risk 
Management Strategy has been developed which supports the following key 
systems: 

 

 Corporate governance 

 Community focus 

 Structures and processes 

 Service delivery arrangements 

 Use of resources 

 Standards of conduct 
 

 
 

Page 58



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

2 The aims & objectives of the Risk Management Strategy 
 

2.1 The purpose of the risk management strategy is to embed risk management into 
the daily operations of the council. Good risk management will lead to good 
management, good performance, good stewardship of public money, good public 
engagement and, ultimately, good outcomes for citizens and service users.  

 
2.2 The aim of the Risk Management Strategy is to: 
 

 Ensure the security of Council assets 

 Ensure the safety and well-being of Members, employees and service users. 

 Safeguard the reputation and image of the organisation. 

 Prevent litigation and criminal prosecution. 

 Prevent corruption, fraud and financial losses. 

 Minimize the overall cost of risk to the organisation. 

 Protect the quality of service delivered. 

 Manage organisational, political and technological changes. 

 Ensure the integrity of the organisation. 

 Ensure sound ethical conduct and probity.  
 

 
2.3  The objectives of the Risk Management Strategy is to ensure officers and  
        Members: 
 

 Adopt a logical and systematic approach to identifying, analysing, evaluating, 
treating, and monitoring and reporting all risks, associated with any activity, 
objective, function or process within which they become involved. 

 Evaluate the consequence and likelihood of risks to measure their severity. 

 Utilise the Risk Management Process and structure to minimise losses and 
maximise opportunities. 

 Manage to a reasonable level, all types of risk to which the organisation is 
exposed including Environmental, Financial, Strategic and Operational. 

 Be actively involved in using the risk management process to evaluate risks 
associated with Corporate and Service objectives including risks involved in 
failing to achieve these objectives. 

 Maintain at all times safe, places of work, systems of work, equipment, 
materials for work, together with a safe and healthy working environment.  

 Keep all work activities under review by carrying out regular risk 
assessments, internal and external audits so as to identify all matters likely to 
affect the safety of members, employees, service users, Partners, visitors 
and others, as well as the effective and efficient running of organisational 
processes.  

 Participate with other bodies including the Council’s insurers to develop and 
share risk management best practice.  

 Implement policies, procedures, preventative and protective measures 
information and training for employees and others based on the outcome of 
such risk assessments / audits, as are necessary to adequately control risk. 

 

Page 59



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

3 The importance of good risk management 
 

3.1 Risk management is considered the central part of an organisations strategic 
management. A robust risk management process can help create a culture of 
“no surprises” by enabling risks attaching to an organisation’s activities to be 
proactively identified, evaluated and appropriately treated thereby increasing the 
probability of success, and reducing both the probability of failure and the 
uncertainty of achieving objectives. The benefits of good risk management can 
be seen in illustration I. 

 
3.2 A robust risk management process will help raise awareness and understanding 

of: 
 
• the nature and extent of the risks facing the organisation; 
• the extent and categories of risks that are regarded as acceptable  
• the likelihood and potential impact of risks materialising; 
• the ability to reduce the incidence of impact on the organisation of risks that do 

materialise; 
• the significance of regular and on-going monitoring and reporting of risks 

including implementation of early warning mechanisms; 
• the cost of operating particular controls relative to the benefit obtained in 

managing related risks;  
• the importance of conducting, an annual review of the internal control systems 

that are in place; 
• the results that are reported from the annual review as well as the explanation of 

actions to be taken to address any significant concerns identified. 
 
 

Page 60



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Illustration I  
 
The Benefits of Good Risk Management 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

         

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          
 
 

         
 
 
 

Achieve benefits 
& exploit 

opportunities 
enabling 

innovation 

 
Adapt to 

changes in the 
market and 

customer needs 

 
Achieve and 
demonstrate 

good 
governance  

Avoid Impact of 
Failure 

(perceived or 
actual) 

Support Value 
for Money, 
project and 

performance 
management 

 
Comply with 

legal and 
regulatory 

requirements 

Manage 
partnerships, 

suppliers’ 
contractors and 

on-going 
services. 

 
Control 

acquisition or 
development of 
new services. 

 
Maintain Service 

Provision 
through 

Adversity 

 
Manage external 

changes in 
culture, political, 
environmental 

etc. 

 
Achieve 

objectives / 
deliver 

services 

Page 61



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

4 The risk management process  
 

4.1 An annual strategic risk management exercise to identify, analyse and prioritise 
risks that may affect the ability of the council to achieve its objectives is conducted 
by the authority. There are a number of critical steps that are taken during the risk 
management exercise and these are as follows: 

 
4.2 Identifying risks 

 
Potential risks that may arise are identified by Members, Management Team, 
Wider Management Team and Service Managers, so that informed decisions can 
be made about policies and/or service delivery methods. They may be general, 
relating to the environment within which the council operates, or specific, relating 
to a key area of service delivery.  

  
4.3 Analysing risks 

 
Available data is used to provide information to help assess the likelihood of any 
risk arising or the potential impact on the councils activities. The council has 
introduced a risk matrix which is a numerical scoring system for analysing risks 
that have been identified by the council: (The risk matrix can be seen at Appendix 
II) 

 
4.4  Profiling risks 

 
Risks are profiled according to their likelihood and severity as follows: 

 
High risk  A total risk scoring 10 or above (red). 
Medium risk  A total risk scoring between 5 and 9 (amber). 
Low risk  A total risk scoring 4 or below (green). 

 
4.5  Prioritising risks 
 

Risks are prioritised based on the how the council decides to approach each risk.            
Control action is then determined based on tolerance and aversion to risk 
balanced against the availability of resources. 

 
4.6  Determining actions on risk 
 
      A course of action can then be determined based on whether the risk is to be 

Transferred, Tolerated, Treated or Terminated. 
 
4.7  Controlling risk 
 
      Once appropriate action is determined for each risk, the process of controlling 

that risk commences. This involves either Treating/Terminating/Tolerating or 
Transferring the risk and/or alleviating its potential impact. 

 

 

 

Page 62



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 
4.8  Monitoring, progress reporting and recording risks 
 

Once risks have been identified, evaluated, their control action agreed and 
implemented, risks must be monitored and their progress should be formally 
reported so that: 
 

 The adequacy of control actions that have been implemented can be 
reviewed 

 Changes in the severity of risks can be promptly identified and reported  

 Additional action to further control escalating risks can be promptly 
undertaken 

 Actions being carried out to control risks in respect of strategies that have 
been executed, or objective’s that have been met can be terminated 

 Lessons can be learned for future risk assessments and decision making. 

 

4.10  All risks identified during the risk management process are recorded in either the 
Corporate Risk Register; and or individual Service Risk Registers.  The purpose 
of risk registers is to document:  

 

 Details of each risk, their severity and the monitoring and control actions that 
have been agreed to control each risk. 

 Details of person(s) who are responsible for monitoring and controlling risks 
and reporting on their progress. 

 Details of whether or not agreed controls are effectively  managing risks 

 Details of what additional control actions are necessary to ensure intended 
actions are being achieved  

 Details of any new and emerging risks. 
 
 
5 The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in 

relation to risk management 
 

5.1 Responsibility for risk management runs throughout the council.  Specific roles 
and responsibilities have been identified so that risk management is embedded in 
the culture of the council. (Table (i) in Appendix III shows the roles and 
responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk 
management and Table (ii) shows the annual risk reporting programme) 

 
6 Links to Governance issues 

 
6.1 The following governance arrangements have been identified as having links to 

the councils Risk Management Strategy: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 
6.2   Systems of internal control 

 
To ensure departments operate in an efficient and effective manner Service 
Managers are responsible for ensuring appropriate processes and procedures 
that incorporate adequate controls exist and are followed thereby enable the 
authority to; 

 

 Comply with statutory and management requirements. 

 Safeguard assets. 

 Maintain accurate and secure records. 

 Identify and correct any errors, omissions or oversights. 
 

 
6.3 The council as a whole operates within a framework of policies and procedures 

intended to direct the activity of the council and ensure transparency in decision 
making. The Constitution forms the main spine of these arrangements and 
includes the council's financial procedure rules and contract procedure rules.  
Responsible officers are expected to ensure that effective internal control 
arrangements are incorporated into the design or development of systems and 
procedures. Such arrangements would include ensuring adequate segregation of 
duties, authorisation and physical security controls to protect the council from 
error, misappropriation or loss.  

 
6.4 Compliance with internal controls is reviewed by the council’s Internal Audit 

function.  Internal Audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting 
function designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps 
the organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control 
and governance processes. 

 
6.5 Control environment 
 

The councils control environment comprises of its system of governance, risk 
management process and system of internal control these systems are designed 
to ensure:  

 

 Risk management is embedded into the activity of the organisation. 

 Achievement of the organisations objectives is established and monitored  

 Compliance with  established policies, procedures, laws and regulations  

 Staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their 
authority 

 Resources are used economically effectively and efficiently to facilitate 
continuous improvement. 

 Finances are prudently managed and reported. 

 Performance is effectively managed and reported. 
 

6.6 All managers are responsible for ensuring the councils objectives are delivered 
with proper controls in place and through the effective and efficient use of 
resources thereby providing value for money.  Controls are reported through the 

Page 64



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Annual Governance Statement, to ensure that systems are delivering consistent, 
predictable and effective results in or to meet service or corporate objectives. 

 
6.7 Data Quality 
 
     The councils approach to delivering and improving data quality across the whole        

authority is outlined in the Data Quality Policy.  The policy demonstrates the 
council’s commitment to ensuring that all information retained or provided by the 
council is accurate, reliable and fit for purpose.  

 
6.8 Anti-Fraud and corruption 

 
The councils approach to all forms of fraud and corruption is detailed in the Anti-
Fraud & Corruption Strategy. The strategy is designed to 

 

 encourage prevention;  

 promote detection, and  

 support investigation  of fraud, bribery and corruption 
 

6.9 Whistleblowing 
 

The councils Whistleblowing Policy aims to ensure openness, probity and 
accountability by encouraging Officers and others, who have serious concerns 
about any aspect of the council's work, to come forward and voice their concerns 
within the council, without fear of reprisals, rather than overlooking a problem or 
“blowing the whistle” outside.  

 
6.10 Money Laundering 
 

In order to prevent the use of council services and personnel for money 
laundering, the council has developed an Anti-Money Laundering Policy that 
sets out internal procedures to ensure  

 

 Potential areas where money laundering may occur are identified. 

 All legal and regulatory requirements are complied with 

 Actual or suspected cases of money laundering activity are appropriately 
reported  

 
6.11  Business Continuity Management 
 

Service Managers are responsible for documenting Business Continuity Plans 
relevant to their service areas, so that critical functions and services can continue 
to be provided and there is effective recovery in the event of and following a 
disruption or catastrophic event. 

Page 65



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Appendix I 

 

The two categories in which the range of risks facing Gravesham Borough Council can 
be placed into is Strategic Risks and Operational Risks. The table below provides a 
brief outline of the major elements of risk facing Gravesham Borough Council) under 
both categories 
 

Strategic Risks 
 
Operational Risks 
 

Political Risks; arising from changes in 
political control or significant policy changes at 
a national or local level 

Professional Risks: associated with the 
professional competence of Officers employed 
by the authority. 

 
Economic Risks: arising from changes in the 
economic climate 

 
Financial Risk: associated with inadequate 
financial planning resulting in lack of funding 
 

 
Social Risks: arising from unanticipated 
effects of changes in demographic, residential 
or social trends 
 

 
Contractual Risks: arising from the failure of 
contractors to deliver services to an agreed 
cost and quality specification 

 
Technology Risks: arising from unanticipated 
technological changes that might render 
significant investments obsolete or undermine 
key assumptions  
 

 
Technological Risks: arising from over-
reliance on IT and other operational equipment 
 

 
Legislative Risks: arising from legislative 
change at UK or European level placing 
significant new obligations on the authority. 
 

Legal Risks; arising from breaches of 
legislation 

 
Environmental Risks: arising from 
unexpected adverse environmental impacts on 
the council’s delivery of services.   

  
Environmental Risks: arising from pollution, 
noise or the energy efficiency of on-going 
service operations 
 

 
Customer/Citizen Risks: arising from 
unexpected changes in the needs and 
expectations of the public. 

 
Partnership Risks: where projects or activities 
are at risk of not being delivered effectively to 
cost or on time because of the complexity of 
partnership working or failure of a partner in 
some aspects of delivery. 

 

Reputational Risks: threat to the 
organisation’s reputation and public perception 
of service including its efficiency and 
effectiveness 

 
 
Physical Risks: fire hazards, lack of security, 
inadequate health and safety measures, etc. 

Page 66



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 
 

 
Appendix II 

 
 
 
 
 
The Risk Matrix  

 
 
 
 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 

Very 
High 

5 5 10 15 20 

High 4 4 8 12 16 

Medium 3 3 6 9 12 

Low 2 2 4 6 8 

Very 
Low 

1 1 2 3 4 

High Risk 1 2 3 4 

Medium Risk 
Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

Low Risk 

IMPACT 

 

Page 67



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact   Appendix II 

 

Likelihood: 

Rating Score  

Very High 5 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is almost 
certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next year.  The issue 
may have already occurred in previous years either at the council or 
elsewhere. 

High 4 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very likely 
that this issue or event will occur in the coming year. 

Medium 3 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue is 
more likely to occur than not in the coming year.  

Low 2 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that 
this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences of this risk have 
occurred in the past but occurrences are very few and far between. 

Very Low 1 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that 
this event would occur in either the coming year or in future years. 

 

Impact: 

Rating Score  

Critical 4 

 
The impact that the occurrence of this risk would have on the authority 
would threaten the council’s financial stability.  The delivery of service to 
the public could be affected either permanently or for a long duration and 
the council would be unable to achieve its key objectives.  There would 
be a seriously damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor 
media coverage. 

Serious 3 

 
The financial impact on the authority would be serious although would not 
threaten the stability of the council’s financial position.  Services would 
experience disruption with the delivery of services being affected for a 
number of days.  Whilst the council’s objectives would be met there would 
be significant delays in achieving them.  The council would endure poor 
media coverage for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation 
which would take some time to recover from.  

Significant 2 

 
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this would be 
manageable within the council’s existing financial resources.  There may 
be disruption to services and possibly delays in achieving the council’s 
objectives.  There may be poor media coverage which could affect the 
council in the long term. 

Negligible 1 

 
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  There 
would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key objectives or 
frontline services.  It is unlikely that this risk will impact on the council’s 
reputation  

 
 

Page 68



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management  Appendix III 
 

Table (i) 
 

 
Cabinet & 
Members 

 
Finance & Audit 
Committee 

 
Management 
Team 

 
Service 
Managers 

 
Support 
Services 

 
Service 
Providers 

 
Risk 
Management 
Framework 
 

 
Review of the Risk 
Management 
Framework on an 
annual basis 

 
Provide independent 
assurance on the 
adequacy of the Risk 
Management 
Framework. 

 
Determine &  agree 
Risk Management  
Framework 

   
Provide advice &  
support 

  

 
Risk 
Management 
Strategy 
 

  
Review  the  Risk 
Management 
Strategy on an 
annual basis 

 
Review Risk 
Management Strategy 
prior to Cabinet Approval. 

 
Determine &  agree 
RM Strategy 

   
Provide advice &  
support 

  

 
Corporate 
Risk Register 

 
Determine & agree 
risks for inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
register.                                  
Carry out Annual 
Review of the 
Corporate Risk 
Register. 

 
Identify risks for inclusion 
in Corporate Risk 
Register  
Review Corporate Risk 
Register prior to Cabinet 
Approval.  

 
Determine &  agree 
risks for inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
Register  

  
Identify risks for 
inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
Register 

 
Provide advice &  
support 

  

 
Service Risk 
Registers 

     
Agree risks for 
inclusion in Service 
Risk Registers                 
Carry out annual 
review of Service 
Risk Registers 

 
Determine  risks 
for inclusion in 
Service Risk 
Registers 

 
Provide advice &  
support 

  

P
age 69



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management                Appendix III  
 

Table (i)  
Cabinet & 
Members 

 
Finance & Audit 
Committee 

 
Management 
Team 

 
Service 
Managers 

 
Support 
Services 

 
Service 
Providers 

 
Step 1                                             
Risk 
Identification 

 
Identify Strategic 
Risks 

 
Discuss possible risks for 
inclusion in the revised 
risk register 

  
Identify Strategic &  
cross service risks 

 
Identify Strategic 
& Service risks  

 
Provide advice &  
support 

Maintain 
awareness of 
risks &  
feeding these 
into the formal 
processes 

 
Step 2                         
Risk Analysis 

 
Analyse likelihood & 
impact of  Strategic 
Risks 

   
Analyse likelihood 
& impact of 
Strategic & cross 
service risks.  

 
Analyse Strategic 
& Service risks 

 
Provide advice &  
support. 
Responsible for 
Core Functions of 
Risk 
Management. 

Maintain  
awareness of 
the impact & 
cost of risks & 
feeding 
information & 
data 
into the formal 
processes 

 
Step 3                           
Risk Profiling 

 
Profile Strategic 
Risks 

   
Profile Strategic &  
cross service risks 

 
Profile Strategic & 
Service risks 

 
Provide advice &  
support  

  

 
Step 4                              
Risk 
Prioritisation 

 
Prioritising Strategic 
Risks 

   
Prioritise Strategic 
&  cross service 
risks 

 
Prioritise Strategic 
& Service risks 

 
Provide advice &  
support  

  

 
 
 

P
age 70



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management                Appendix III 
 

Table (i)  
Cabinet & 
Members 

 
Finance & Audit 
Committee 

 
Management 
Team 

 
Service 
Managers 

 
Support 
Services 

 
Service 
Providers 

 
Step 5                       
Determining 
risk 
management 
Actions 

 
Determine actions  to 
transfer, tolerate, 
treat or terminate 
Strategic Risks 

   
Determine actions 
to transfer, tolerate, 
treat or terminate 
Strategic &  cross 
service risks 

 
Determine action 
on Strategic and 
service risks 
Delegate 
responsibility for 
control Ensure 
adequate service 
continuity plans 
are in place   

 
Provide advice &  
support  

  

 
Step 6                                   
Risk Control 

 
Determine control 
Actions 

   
Control risks by 
delegating 
responsibility   

 
Control Risks 
including those 
delegated by 
Management 
Team 

 
Provide advice &  
support, & control 
specific risk 
areas. 

 
Control risk in 
their jobs 

 
Step 7                                             
Monitoring &  
Progress/ 
Performance 
 Reporting 

   
Monitor the effective 
development & operation 
of risk management in 
the authority.  

 
Monitor progress 
on managing 
strategic & cross-
business risks &  
review the 
implementation of 
the Risk 
Management 
Framework, Risk 
Management 
Strategy &  Risk 
Management 
Process 

 
Monitor progress 
on managing risks  
Report to the 
departmental  
management 
team  

 
Provide advice &  
support  

 
Monitor 
progress on 
managing job 
related risks 
Report to the 
Service 
Manager  

P
age 71



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023 
 

 
The annual risk management reporting programme 2022-2023 
  
        
Table (ii) 

January 2022 Management Team to discuss and review the Risks 
identified and included in the draft version of the 
Corporate Risk Register for 2022-2023 

7 March 2022 Finance & Audit Committee presented with the 
draft version of the 2022-2023 Risk Management 
Strategy and Corporate Risk Register. Copy to be 
sent to Corporate Performance Team. 

March 2022 Draft version of the 2022-2023 Risk Management 
Strategy (if necessary) and Corporate Risk Register 
presented at Chief Executive Briefing  for review 

21 March 2022 

 

Cabinet presented with the final version of the 2022-
2023 Risk Management Strategy and Corporate Risk 
Register  

12 April 2022 Council presented with Annual Report on Strategic 
Risk Management (including Risk Management 
Strategy) 

September 2022 Senior Officers are contacted and requested to 
provide progress information relating to risks 
recorded in the 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register  

November  2022 Finance & Audit Committee presented with mid-
year risk report. F&A are required to review and 
discuss progress information and consider any new 
risks that have been identified for inclusion in the - 
2023-2024 Corporate Risk Register. 

December  2022 Senior Officers requested to carry out risk 
identification exercise and consider control actions to 
be implemented to manage identified risks.  
Development of the draft version of the Corporate 
Risk Register for 2023-2024 commences. 

 

Page 72



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 1

Gravesham Borough Council’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of an annual strategic risk management exercise that is conducted to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that may affect the ability of the Council to 
achieve its corporate objectives.  Finance & Audit Committee have responsibility for monitoring the effective development and operation of risk management within the Council and reviewing the Corporate Risk Register prior 
to its submission to Cabinet for approval.  This document should be read in conjunction with the report in which the outcomes from the annual risk identification exercise are presented.  
The following matrix is utilised when assessing whether a risk is a high, medium or low risk for the Council to help determine which risks should be included in the Corporate Risk Register and which risks should be managed 
at departmental level:

The Risk Matrix

Very 
High 5 5 10 15 20

High 4 4 8 12 16

Medium 3 3 6 9 12

Low 2 2 4 6 8

Very 
Low 1 1 2 3 4

High Risk 1 2 3 4
Medium Risk

Low Risk Negligible Significant Serious Critical

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IMPACT

The Corporate Risks that have been assessed for 2022-2023.

1 Ongoing financial viability of the Council
2 Changes in national priorities and legislation-
3 Organisational capacity/ resilience
4 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data
5 Investment Risk 
6 Adoption and delivery of sound Local Plan
7 Universal Credit
8 IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation

Likelihood
Rating Score

Very High 5 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is almost certain that this 
issue will occur sometime within the next year.  The issue may have already occurred in 
previous years either at the Council or elsewhere.

High 4 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very likely that this issue 
or event will occur in the coming year.

Medium 3 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue is more likely to 
occur than not in the coming year. 

Low 2 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that this event will 
occur in the coming year.  Occurrences of this risk have occurred in the past but 
occurrences are very few and far between.

Very Low 1 On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in either the coming year or 
in future years.

Impact
Rating Score

Critical 4
The financial impact on the authority would critically threaten the Council’s financial 
stability.  The delivery of service to the public could be affected either permanently or for 
a long duration and the Council could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a 
seriously damaging impact on the Council’s reputation through poor media coverage.

Serious 3

The financial impact on the authority would be serious although would not threaten the 
stability of the Council’s financial position.  Services would experience disruption with the 
delivery of services being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the Council’s objectives 
would be met there would be significant delays in achieving them.  The Council would 
endure poor media coverage for a period of time affecting the Council’s reputation which 
would take some time to recover from. 

Significant 2
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this would be manageable 
within the Council’s existing financial resources.  There may be disruption to services 
and possibly delays in achieving the Council’s objectives.  There may be poor media 
coverage which could affect the Council in the long term.

Negligible 1 There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  There would be no 
disruption to the delivery of the Council’s key objectives or frontline services.  It is 
unlikely that this risk will impact on the Council’s reputation.

The Risk Ongoing financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1

P
age 73



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 2

Link to Corporate Objective # Progress

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios)

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Financial Challenges due to changes in government legislation and 
posed by the COVID-19 Pandemic, leading to increased financial 
pressure on the budget. 
Single year finance settlement for 2022/23 leaving uncertainty as to 
how local government will be funded in future years.
Central Government Finance reforms have been put on hold (fair 
funding review, business rates retention and future of new homes 
bonus).

 Difficult decisions around funding of services and quality of 
services compromised

 Inability to plan effectively for future years. 
 Traditional income generating activity has reduced (such as car 

parking income and investment income) as a result of the 
COVID -19 Pandemic.

 Council not being able to meet its statutory obligations due to 
lack of funding

 Uncertainty of funding for the authority and for future projects
 Changes in legislation have a negative financial impact on the 

Council.
 Impact on minimum reserve limits.

 Effective Budget Monitoring 
 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place
 Ongoing monitoring of the Medium Term Financial Plan
 Monitoring of changes in legislation by officers.
 Model effects of any changes in legislation and application 

of these to the MTFP
 Responding to Government Consultations

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Plan
 Budget monitoring process

P
age 74



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 3

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislative change Risk No. 2
Link to Corporate Objective #People, #Place & #Progress

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio All portfolios

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12

Lead Officer (s) Target Date

Chief Executive/ Management Team/Wider Management Team March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Changes in national priorities including National Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIP).
Current proposals that affect the Borough are:

 Lower Thames Crossing (Gravesham)
 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury)
 London Resort (Dartford, Gravesham)

Local priority changes of partners

Council may not have the necessary resources to deliver on key 
projects.
Projects may adversely affect local residents 

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers
Working alongside other stakeholders and partner organisations 
to keep informed of developments such as:-

Local Government Association
District Councils Network
Kent Finance Officers Group
Kent Resilience Forum

Information sharing and gathering across all Council services
Change (s) in legislation / statutory duties imposed by Central 
Government such as

 Local Government Reform
 Levelling Up Agenda

Introduction of new statutory duties could
 Change the strategic direction of the Council
 Result in new statutory duties not being enacted leading to legal 

challenge
 Entail additional workloads for officers
 Move to an agile way, directing resources as required
 Increase scrutiny by members and the public
 change the way existing services are delivered
 increase financial pressures (discussed as part of risk 1)

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers on proposed / new 
legislation
Effective business continuity planning
Regular updates to members on developments and potential 
changes in legislation
Preparation of workforce strategy
Co-ordination and sharing of information with other local 
authorities through various networks and forums.

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Corporate Plan 2019-2023
 Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Plan

P
age 75



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 4

The Risk Organisational capacity/resilience Risk No. 3
Link to Corporate Objective #People

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios)

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Laura Lowrey June/July 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

External opportunities of agile and home working in light of the COVID 
pandemic is making it difficult to recruit staff, especially those in 
specialist roles.  

Increase in turnover resulting with a reduction in staff,
Specialist roles remain vacant for prolonged periods of time, placing 
additional pressures on staff in service areas which may already 
have stretched resources.
Increased agency costs 
Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact

A Hybrid Working Policy was introduced from 1 November 2021 
giving office based staff the opportunity to work from home, 
depending on the needs of the service.   Initiatives that have been 
introduced to ensure the Council remains competitive in order to 
retain existing staff and attract potential employees include:

 Increased availability of training for (including qualification 
training).

 Revisiting and improving advert templates and reviewing 
where vacancies are advertised.  

 HR and Managers working closely to ensure career 
progression is available within services. 

The introduction of a Management Development Programme
Overstretched resources resulting with reduced staff motivation, low 
morale and increased sickness and stress levels.

Council will be required to provide additional help and support to 
overcome problems.

HR continue to monitor the levels of stress and sickness absence 
within the Council and support line managers. When appropriate 
staff will be referred to Occupational Health and the Employee 
Assistance Programme. Other initiatives  in order to support staff 
wellbeing that have been introduced and will continue, include:

 Undertaking periodic Wellbeing surveys amongst the 
workforce.  

 Reviewing the format of the joint staff forum to ensure the 
whole workforce is represented at the meetings and includes 
a wellbeing item on the agenda.

 Undertaking weekly Webinars that are run by the Council’s 
Employee Assistance Programme.

 Reviewing and promoting the role of the Councils Mental 
Health Champions.

Continuing Investors in People reviews next one due in April 2022.
Staff (especially office based) experiencing difficulties in adapting to 
remote working

Increase in organisational stress negatively impacting productivity 
and mental health and wellbeing.

All line managers undertook training in November 2021 on 
Leadership Behaviours for Managing and Motivating Hybrid Teams.
The Hybrid Working Policy provides office based staff the 
opportunity to adopt a better work life balance.

P
age 76



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 5

Key corporate documents and processes in 
place

 Corporate Business Plan 2019-2023
 Workforce Development Plan

P
age 77



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 6

The Risk Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data Risk No. 4
Link to Corporate Objective Progress

Deliver a more resilient, creative, cost effective Council
Digital innovation
Successfully manage key business risks

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  4 Impact  4 Score  16 Likelihood  3 Impact  4 Score  12 Likelihood 2 Impact 4 Score 8

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Assistant Director (Transformation & IT) November 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Member of staff falls victim to phishing attack The login credentials used by a member of staff is stolen enabling an 
unauthorised user to access and modify data and systems used by that 
person. In the case of a user with access to privileged systems this may 
also enable administrative access and the ability to move laterally between 
systems. The ultimate consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a 
loss of access to Council systems and data.

 Cyber awareness training for staff
 Use of strong passwords
 Use of multifactor authentication
 Separation of administrative accounts from general 

user accounts
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Member of staff falls victim to “drive by download” A member of staff visits a website which has been poisoned with malware 
which automatically runs when the web page is viewed. The malware is 
able to access resources on the computer with the same level of access 
as the logged in user, or with elevated privileges if combined with 
additional vulnerabilities (such as unpatched software),  The ultimate 
consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a loss of access to 
Council systems and data.

 Use of web filtering software to control access to known 
high risk websites

 Use of antivirus software
 Use of non-administrative accounts when browsing the 

web
 Timely patching of software vulnerabilities
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Misconfiguration of IT Infrastructure results in a breach An item of IT infrastructure is accidentally configured in such a way that it 
allows exploitation by an external actor to carry out a cyber-attack resulting 
in a loss of access to Council systems and data

 Policies, processes, and procedures for configuration of 
IT infrastructure

 Staff training
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Brute force attack against IT infrastructure results in breach An attacker constantly attempts to gain access to Council systems via 
external infrastructure (web sites, email systems, vpn) in a systematic way 
with the hope of finding a vulnerability which will provide access to Council 
systems and data. Once access has been gained, the ultimate 
consequence could be a cyberattack resulting in a loss of access to 

 Regular review of IT defences (such as firewall rules 
and network configurations) to ensure they are 
operating effectively

 Regular scanning of IT infrastructure to identify what an 
attacker is able to see

P
age 78



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 7

Council systems and data.  Central recording of security incident logs which can 
identify when attacks happen

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Unpatched software vulnerability results in breach All software has the potential to have bugs and programming errors. 
Unpatched software means there are vulnerabilities in a program or code 
that the Council is aware of and will not or cannot fix. Bugs in software can 
be exploited to carry out tasks for which the software was not originally 
designed to perform, such as carrying out a cyber-attack.

 Only use software which is supported by the supplier
 Apply patches to software in a timely manner when 

notified by the supplier of a vulnerability
 In 2022 further systems and procedures will be 

explored for the automation of loading software patches 
to speed up the process and reduce the amount of time 
software is vulnerable

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Denial of service attack prevents IT systems from being used The Council’s internet connections is flooded with a high volume of 
meaningless data which prevent legitimate data from getting through. 
Access to Council services for staff and members of the public is 
prevented and the systems appear to be down.

 The Councils internet connection provided by KPSN 
features a high level of Distributed Denial of Service 
protection from JISC (the internet service provider)

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Ransomware attack steals and then deletes Council data A malicious actor who has gained a foothold within the Council IT 
infrastructure is able steal large volumes of data before destroying access 
to that data for the Council. Staff are not able to access their systems or 
data and provide their services.

 Regular backup of data to systems that have 
ransomware protection and immutable storage

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Business Continuity Plans
 IT Security Policies

P
age 79



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 8

The Risk Investment Risk Risk No. 5
Link to Corporate Objective #Progress

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  5 Impact  2 Score  10 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Director (Corporate Services), Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Investments do not perform as expected Investment income is reduced, negatively impacting on budget and the 
reputation of the Council which could impact on the delivery of services 
due to the loss of income.

External professional advice is sought on new investment activity 
such as from the Councils treasury management advisors and 
subjected to due diligence checks
Regular meetings with fund managers to ascertain how 
investments are performing.
Maintaining and reporting on the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy and Capital Strategy, which set out the criteria for 
investments
Regular updates to members and management team on 
investment performance.
Monitoring and review of treasury activity

Commercial property does not maintain the expected rental yield Reduction in income for the Council which could adversely affect the 
delivery of services due to lack of financial resources.

Close working between finance and property services to enable 
early identification of risks or opportunities to the Council’s 
investment portfolio.
Maintaining the commercial income protection reserve. Currently 
this reserve is set at 25% of annual commercial income.
Maintaining and reviewing the Property Acquisition Strategy and 
ensuring all commercial investments align with this strategy.
Development of a Commercial Income Dashboard.

Government intervention on investment activity for example potential 
changes to the Prudential Code and access to Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB)

Council could be limited in its investment options going forward
Requirement to disinvest in some areas that are performing well to 
ensure compliance with the relevant codes and legislation.

Review of commercial property portfolio to ensure it is compliant 
with the Prudential Code and PWLB criteria.
Research other investment opportunities / income streams.

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Treasury Management Strategy
 Capital Strategy
 Property Acquisition Strategy

P
age 80



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 9

The Risk Adoption and delivery of a sound Local Plan Risk No. 6
Link to Corporate Objective #Place

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Strategic Environment 

Risk Owner(s) Director of Environment, Assistant Director (Planning)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score  16 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date

Service Manager (Planning)
Assistant Director (Planning)

December 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Local Plan is not up-to-date and not underpinned by a robust evidence base  Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) are required to have an up to 
date local plan in place by the end of 2023 or face government 
sanction / intervention

 If Government intervention:
o Reputational damage to the Council 
o The potential imposition of unwanted planning policies, 

causing an inability to deliver upon the Council’s that are 
dependent on the Local Plan

 Council less able to protect the Borough from inappropriate or poor 
quality development

 Service has taken up the offer of a PAS Local Plan 
Gateway Review which is an independent 
assessment of the risks and opportunities faced.

 The Local Plan is supported by a detailed project 
timetable / project plan that is used to control and 
manage the process, so far as that is possible and 
that this is periodically presented to Management 
Team for management update/monitoring purposes.

 There are risks which cannot be adequately 
mitigated because they are under the control of 
external organisations and the Council is reliant on 
those external parties for elements of the Local 
Plan. For example, updated transport modelling is 
required from Kent County Council in agreement 
with National Highways. This is outside of our direct 
control but essential for the plan.

Council is unable to identify a five-year land supply and fails the 
Government’s Housing Delivery Test

 Where councils’ cannot demonstrate a five year supply, national 
planning policy, rather than policies in a Local Plan have greater 
influence in decision making 

 National policy states there should be a “presumption in favour of 
sustainable development” for housing. This means that if a site can 
be considered to deliver ‘sustainable development’ then planning 
permission could be granted, even if there is no support from the 
council for housing in that location or the site sits outside the Local 
Plan. 

 Councils have less ‘control’ over where new homes are built: 
o May have to recommend approval of applications for sites 

they have not allocated 
o Increase in rejected proposals approved at appeal.

 Production of Housing Delivery Action Plan and 
implementation of the interventions identified within 
it

Key corporate documents and processes in place Housing Delivery Action Plan
Local Development Scheme

P
age 81



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 10

The Risk Universal Credit Risk No. 7
Link to Corporate Objective #People #Progress

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Performance & Administration

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) and Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  3 Impact  2 Score  6 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Head of Revenues & Benefits; Assistant Revenues & Benefits Manager Ongoing

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Delay and uncertainty on Managed Migration of cases to Universal 
Credit (a number of delays announced by Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) – latest announcement stating that full roll-out 
delayed to September 2024)

Difficult to predict the resourcing requirements of the Benefits service Restructure of Revenues and Benefits Team undertaken January 
2022 – to be reviewed in 18-24 months

Drop in Housing Benefit cases as they migrate over to Universal 
Credit (UC) showing reduction in Council Tax Reduction (CTR) 
scheme cases

Those claimants who would be eligible for CTR not receiving a 
reduction on their Council tax account.

Rise in level of corporate debt specifically 
 Council Tax arrears, costs incurred due to court action and 

enforcement agent charges
 Rent arrears as payments made directly to the tenant, rather 

than direct to the rent account 

Increase in evictions/homelessness

Claimants suffer financial hardship

Use of Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) application so more 
data intelligence available to identify, and engage with claimants 
where

 claims have ‘dropped off’ due to migration (or new claims) 
to UC

 claimants moving into financial crisis due to benefit 
changes / pandemic 

Proposed change to 2022-23 CTR scheme to accept a claim for 
UC as a claim for CTR

Liaison has continued despite the Covid-19 pandemic although 
remotely. Caseload & workload is closely monitored and reported 
monthly to management and Portfolio Holder. There has been 
significant benefit changes with good regular update bulletins. 
Job shadowing temporarily suspended due to the pandemic but 
will be resurrected as soon as practicable.

Decrease in Housing Benefit caseload but increase Universal Credit 
workload for service

May affect turnaround times thereby directly affecting claimants 
including vulnerable claimants

Recent restructure of service to build in anticipated resilience 
requirements.

Proposed banded CTR scheme for 2022-2023 will reduce 
number of changes which would in the past have affected claim 
amount
 

P
age 82



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 11

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control
Significant changes to the benefit system Delays in assessment of benefit claims

Complex changes requiring both legislative and systems knowledge
Maintain briefing arrangements for members and staff and 
provide regular updates of any changes.
Creation of a Service Change team within Revenues and Benefits 
to ensure  staff training, policy changes , system testing/upgrades

Continue signposting for claimants and potential claimants  – 
working closely with Job Centre Plus

Social Media messaging and website maintenance to ensure key 
messaging.

Key corporate documents and processes in 
place

 Service Plan
 Exceptional Hardship Policy
 Monthly reporting (to Senior Management and Portfolio Holder) of key performance indicators including caseload, speed of assessment, 

amount of Discretionary Hardship payment made, Council tax collection
 Quarterly performance report to Performance and Administration cabinet committee

P
age 83



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 12

The Risk IT Infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation Risk No. 8
Link to Corporate Objective Progress

Deliver a more resilient, creative, cost effective Council
Digital innovation
Successfully manage key business risks

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score 9 Likelihood  2 Impact  1 Score  2

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Assistant Director (Transformation & IT August 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Staff are unable to use IT facilities to effectively deliver their services  The Council is unable to deliver the commitments made in the 
Corporate Plan

 Staff are unable to work effectively (or work at all)
 Services (including those to the public) are either delayed or not 

delivered at all
 Loss of revenue due to lack of quality monitoring data
 Low job satisfaction amongst staff resulting in retention issues

 Effective Digital & IT strategy (to be published August 
2022)

 Effective Business Plan for Digital & IT Services
 Adequate investment identified for IT infrastructure
 Technical training for IT Staff
 Proactive contract monitoring is an area of improvement 

identified within the SOCITM review for implementation in 
2022/23

The public are unable to access IT facilities effectively in order to do 
business with the Council

 Low satisfaction with services delivered by the Council
 An increase in complaints
 Those most vulnerable and dependent upon our services are 

put at risk

 Effective Digital & IT strategy
 Effective Business Plan for Digital & IT Services
 Adequate investment identified for IT infrastructure
 Technical training for IT Staff
 Proactive contract monitoring is an area of improvement 

identified within the SOCITM review for implementation in 
2022/23

Use of outdated IT infrastructure presents a cyber-risk if the software 
is unpatchable

 A cyberattack can have far reaching consequences, including 
the theft and destruction of Council data which would prevent 
the Council being able to deliver its services for a protracted 
period

 Keep software and IT infrastructure up to date
 Do not use unsupported software and IT infrastructure
 Implement relevant security policies
 Implement relevant technical controls
 Maintain staff training and cyber awareness

Digital innovation not keeping up with current digital trends  Customers expect to be able to interact with the Council 24/7 
and at a time that suits them. If we don’t invest in the digital 
infrastructure and software, we risk falling behind customer 
demand.

 Investment in cloud infrastructure and continue to adopt a 
cloud first approach to software and hardware 
procurement

Key corporate documents and processes in place Corporate Plan
Business Plan (Digital and IT Services)
Digital and IT Strategy
IT Security Policies
Business Continuity Plans

P
age 84



Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
Analysis of Risks

Page 13

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER

2022-2023

Page 87



2 | P a g e

 
Gravesham Borough Council’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of a strategic risk 
management exercise conducted annually to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that 
may affect the ability of the council to achieve its corporate objectives.  Key risks facing the 
council are identified through discussion with Cabinet Members, Finance and Audit 
Committee Members, Members, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other 
senior managers

The risk management exercise establishes the severity of risks through the utilisation of the 
risk matrix below. The risk matrix is used to establish the inherent risk score, the residual 
risk score and the target risk score.

The Inherent Risk – The severity of the risk is determined before any controls have been 
introduced to reduce or mitigate the risk. 

The Residual Risk – The severity of the risk is determined after implementation of controls 
that reduce or mitigate the risk. The “residual” risk position is effectively the “tolerable” risk 
position which the Council is willing to operate given current constraints. It balances the 
funding position with objectives outlined in the councils Corporate Plan. 

The Target Risk – This is the “Optimal” risk position which the Council aims to reach 
through a combination of both improvements in existing controls and the introduction of new 
ones. This is informed by the Councils objectives detailed in the Corporate Plan.

The Risk Matrix

Very 
High 5 5 10 15 20

High 4 4 8 12 16

Medium 3 3 6 9 12

Low 2 2 4 6 8

Very 
Low 1 1 2 3 4

High Risk 1 2 3 4
Medium Risk

Low Risk Negligible Significant Serious Critical

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IMPACT

Page 88



3 | P a g e

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact

Likelihood:
Rating Score

Very High 5
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
almost certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next 
year.  The issue may have already occurred in previous years 
either at the council or elsewhere.

High 4 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very 
likely that this issue or event will occur in the coming year.

Medium 3 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue 
is more likely to occur than not in the coming year. 

Low 2
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
unlikely that this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences 
of this risk have occurred in the past but occurrences are very few 
and far between.

Very Low 1 On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in 
either the coming year or in future years.

Impact:
Rating Score

Critical 4

The financial impact on the authority would threaten the council’s 
financial stability.  The delivery of service to the public could be 
affected either permanently or for a long duration and the council 
could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a seriously 
damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor media 
coverage.

Serious 3

The financial impact on the authority would be significant although 
would not threaten the stability of the councils financial position.  
Services would experience disruption with the delivery of services 
being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s 
objectives would be met there would be significant delays in 
achieving them.  The council would endure poor media coverage 
for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation, which would 
take some time to recover from. 

Significant 2
There may be financial impact on the authority and/or the cost of 
mitigating the risk could exceed the financial implications of the risk 
there may be disruption to services and possibly delays in 
achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor media 
coverage, which could affect the council in the long term.

Negligible 1
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  
There would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key 
objectives or frontline services.  
There is no risk of this risk impacting on the councils reputation 

Page 89



4 | P a g e

All risks identified for 2022-2023 and their assessments are summarised in the table below 
and plotted in the Heat Map: 

Risk Ref Risk Description
Inherent 

Risk
Residual 

Risk
Target 

Risk 
1 On-going financial viability of the council 20 12 9
2 Changes in national priorities and legislation 20 15 12
3 Organisational capacity/resilience 20 12 9
4 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 16 12 8
5 Investment risk 15 10 9
6 Adoption and deivery of sound Local Plan 16 12 9
7 Universal credit 15 6 9
8 IT infrastructure is not updated to meet the needs of the organisation 20 9 2

The risks that have generated a “High Risk” score can be seen coloured in red and these 
have therefore been included in the 2022-2023 Corporate Risk Register.

Risk Heat Map (Residual Risk)

1 2 3 4

IMPACT

High Risk
Medium Risk Negligible Significant Serious Critical

Low Risk

Very Low 1

8 4

Low 2

High 4 1,3,6

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

Very High 5 5 2

Medium 3 7

Given that the council works in an ever-changing environment it will be necessary to 
conduct similar risk management exercises on a periodic basis.  Progress against 
management actions recorded in the register will be reviewed on a six-monthly basis by the 
Finance and Audit Committee.   

As a contribution to good corporate governance, risk management also forms a part of the 
annual business planning process – each departmental business plan has a specific service 
risk register to identify the key risks facing that service.  This reinforces the corporate risk 
management approach through each Service Manager giving proper formal consideration to 
both corporate and operational risks.

Page 90



The Risk Ongoing financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1
Link to Corporate Objective # Progress An entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled 

workforce and strong governance environment

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios)

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Financial Challenges due to changes in government legislation and 
posed by the COVID-19 Pandemic, leading to increased financial 
pressure on the budget. 
Single year finance settlement for 2022/23 leaving uncertainty as to 
how local government will be funded in future years.
Central Government Finance reforms have been put on hold (fair 
funding review, business rates retention and future of new homes 
bonus).

 Difficult decisions around funding of services and quality of 
services compromised

 Inability to plan effectively for future years. 
 Traditional income generating activity has reduced (such as car 

parking income and investment income) as a result of the 
COVID -19 Pandemic.

 Council not being able to meet its statutory obligations due to 
lack of funding

 Uncertainty of funding for the authority and for future projects
 Changes in legislation have a negative financial impact on the 

Council.
 Impact on minimum reserve limits.

 Effective Budget Monitoring 
 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place
 Ongoing monitoring of the Medium Term Financial Plan
 Monitoring of changes in legislation by officers.
 Model effects of any changes in legislation and application 

of these to the MTFP
 Responding to Government Consultations

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Plan
 Budget monitoring process

P
age 91



6 | P a g e

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislative change Risk No. 2
Link to Corporate Objective #People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

#2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its 
strong and active community.

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio All portfolios

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12

Lead Officer (s) Target Date

Chief Executive/ Management Team/Wider Management Team March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Changes in national priorities including National Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIP).
Current proposals that affect the Borough are:

 Lower Thames Crossing (Gravesham)
 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury)
 London Resort (Dartford, Gravesham)

Local priority changes of partners

Council may not have the necessary resources to deliver on key 
projects.
Projects may adversely affect local residents 

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers
Working alongside other stakeholders and partner organisations 
to keep informed of developments such as:-

Local Government Association
District Councils Network
Kent Finance Officers Group
Kent Resilience Forum

Information sharing and gathering across all Council services
Change (s) in legislation / statutory duties imposed by Central 
Government such as

 Local Government Reform
 Levelling Up Agenda

Introduction of new statutory duties could
 Change the strategic direction of the Council
 Result in new statutory duties not being enacted leading to legal 

challenge
 Entail additional workloads for officers
 Move to an agile way, directing resources as required
 Increase scrutiny by members and the public
 change the way existing services are delivered
 increase financial pressures (discussed as part of risk 1)

Circulation of monthly briefings to key officers on proposed / new 
legislation
Effective business continuity planning
Regular updates to members on developments and potential 
changes in legislation
Preparation of workforce strategy
Co-ordination and sharing of information with other local 
authorities through various networks and forums.

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Corporate Plan 2019-2023
 Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Plan

P
age 92



7 | P a g e

The Risk Organisational capacity/resilience Risk No. 3
Link to Corporate Objective #People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios)

Risk Owner(s) Chief Executive and Management Team

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  4 Score  20 Likelihood  4 Impact  3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Laura Lowrey June/July 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

External opportunities of agile and home working in light of the COVID 
pandemic is making it difficult to recruit staff, especially those in 
specialist roles.  

Increase in turnover resulting with a reduction in staff,
Specialist roles remain vacant for prolonged periods of time, placing 
additional pressures on staff in service areas which may already 
have stretched resources.
Increased agency costs 
Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact

A Hybrid Working Policy was introduced from 1 November 2021 
giving office based staff the opportunity to work from home, 
depending on the needs of the service.   Initiatives that have been 
introduced to ensure the Council remains competitive in order to 
retain existing staff and attract potential employees include:

 Increased availability of training for (including qualification 
training).

 Revisiting and improving advert templates and reviewing 
where vacancies are advertised.  

 HR and Managers working closely to ensure career 
progression is available within services. 

 The introduction of a Management Development Programme
Overstretched resources resulting with reduced staff motivation, low 
morale and increased sickness and stress levels.

Council will be required to provide additional help and support to 
overcome problems.

HR continue to monitor the levels of stress and sickness absence 
within the Council and support line managers. When appropriate 
staff will be referred to Occupational Health and the Employee 
Assistance Programme. Other initiatives  in order to support staff 
wellbeing that have been introduced and will continue, include:

 Undertaking periodic Wellbeing surveys amongst the 
workforce.  

 Reviewing the format of the joint staff forum to ensure the 
whole workforce is represented at the meetings and includes 
a wellbeing item on the agenda.

 Undertaking weekly Webinars that are run by the Council’s 
Employee Assistance Programme.

 Reviewing and promoting the role of the Councils Mental 
Health Champions.

 Continuing Investors in People reviews next one due in April 
2022.

Staff (especially office based) experiencing difficulties in adapting to 
remote working

Increase in organisational stress negatively impacting productivity 
and mental health and wellbeing.

All line managers undertook training in November 2021 on 
Leadership Behaviours for Managing and Motivating Hybrid Teams.
The Hybrid Working Policy provides office based staff the 
opportunity to adopt a better work life balance.

P
age 93



8 | P a g e

Key corporate documents and processes in 
place

 Corporate Business Plan 2019-2023
 Workforce Development Plan

P
age 94



9 | P a g e

The Risk Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data Risk No. 4
Link to Corporate Objective #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 

skilled workforce and strong governance environment
Deliver a more resilient, creative, cost effective Council
Digital innovation
Successfully manage key business risks

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services) 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  4 Impact  4 Score  16 Likelihood  3 Impact  4 Score  12 Likelihood 2 Impact 4 Score 8

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Assistant Director (Transformation & IT) November 2022

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Member of staff falls victim to phishing attack The login credentials used by a member of staff is stolen enabling an 
unauthorised user to access and modify data and systems used by that 
person. In the case of a user with access to privileged systems this may 
also enable administrative access and the ability to move laterally between 
systems. The ultimate consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a 
loss of access to Council systems and data.

 Cyber awareness training for staff
 Use of strong passwords
 Use of multifactor authentication
 Separation of administrative accounts from general 

user accounts
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Member of staff falls victim to “drive by download” A member of staff visits a website which has been poisoned with malware 
which automatically runs when the web page is viewed. The malware is 
able to access resources on the computer with the same level of access 
as the logged in user, or with elevated privileges if combined with 
additional vulnerabilities (such as unpatched software),  The ultimate 
consequence could be a cyber-attack resulting in a loss of access to 
Council systems and data.

 Use of web filtering software to control access to known 
high risk websites

 Use of antivirus software
 Use of non-administrative accounts when browsing the 

web
 Timely patching of software vulnerabilities
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Misconfiguration of IT Infrastructure results in a breach An item of IT infrastructure is accidentally configured in such a way that it 
allows exploitation by an external actor to carry out a cyber-attack resulting 
in a loss of access to Council systems and data

 Policies, processes, and procedures for configuration of 
IT infrastructure

 Staff training
 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 

established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Brute force attack against IT infrastructure results in breach An attacker constantly attempts to gain access to Council systems via 
external infrastructure (web sites, email systems, vpn) in a systematic way 
with the hope of finding a vulnerability which will provide access to Council 

 Regular review of IT defences (such as firewall rules 
and network configurations) to ensure they are 
operating effectively

P
age 95



10 | P a g e

systems and data. Once access has been gained, the ultimate 
consequence could be a cyberattack resulting in a loss of access to 
Council systems and data.

 Regular scanning of IT infrastructure to identify what an 
attacker is able to see

 Central recording of security incident logs which can 
identify when attacks happen

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Unpatched software vulnerability results in breach All software has the potential to have bugs and programming errors. 
Unpatched software means there are vulnerabilities in a program or code 
that the Council is aware of and will not or cannot fix. Bugs in software can 
be exploited to carry out tasks for which the software was not originally 
designed to perform, such as carrying out a cyber-attack.

 Only use software which is supported by the supplier
 Apply patches to software in a timely manner when 

notified by the supplier of a vulnerability
 In 2022 further systems and procedures will be 

explored for the automation of loading software patches 
to speed up the process and reduce the amount of time 
software is vulnerable

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Denial of service attack prevents IT systems from being used The Council’s internet connections is flooded with a high volume of 
meaningless data which prevent legitimate data from getting through. 
Access to Council services for staff and members of the public is 
prevented and the systems appear to be down.

 The Councils internet connection provided by KPSN 
features a high level of Distributed Denial of Service 
protection from JISC (the internet service provider)

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Ransomware attack steals and then deletes Council data A malicious actor who has gained a foothold within the Council IT 
infrastructure is able steal large volumes of data before destroying access 
to that data for the Council. Staff are not able to access their systems or 
data and provide their services.

 Regular backup of data to systems that have 
ransomware protection and immutable storage

 In 2022 a Security Operations Centre managed service 
will be explored in order to provide 24/7 proactive 
monitoring of our IT environment and highlighting any 
risks for further action on immediate identification

 In 2022 a dedicated IT Security Officer post will be 
established which will coordinate all IT security activity 
across the Council and improve our security posture

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Business Continuity Plans
 IT Security Policies

P
age 96



11 | P a g e

The Risk Investment Risk Risk No. 5
Link to Corporate Objective #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 

skilled workforce and strong governance environment

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Risk Owner(s) Director (Corporate Services)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood  5 Impact  3 Score  15 Likelihood  5 Impact  2 Score  10 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score 9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date
Director (Corporate Services), Assistant Director (Corporate Services) March 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Investments do not perform as expected Investment income is reduced, negatively impacting on budget and the 
reputation of the Council which could impact on the delivery of services 
due to the loss of income.

External professional advice is sought on new investment activity 
such as from the Councils treasury management advisors and 
subjected to due diligence checks
Regular meetings with fund managers to ascertain how 
investments are performing.
Maintaining and reporting on the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy and Capital Strategy, which set out the criteria for 
investments
Regular updates to members and management team on 
investment performance.
Monitoring and review of treasury activity

Commercial property does not maintain the expected rental yield Reduction in income for the Council which could adversely affect the 
delivery of services due to lack of financial resources.

Close working between finance and property services to enable 
early identification of risks or opportunities to the Council’s 
investment portfolio.
Maintaining the commercial income protection reserve. Currently 
this reserve is set at 25% of annual commercial income.
Maintaining and reviewing the Property Acquisition Strategy and 
ensuring all commercial investments align with this strategy.
Development of a Commercial Income Dashboard.

Government intervention on investment activity for example potential 
changes to the Prudential Code and access to Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB)

Council could be limited in its investment options going forward
Requirement to disinvest in some areas that are performing well to 
ensure compliance with the relevant codes and legislation.

Review of commercial property portfolio to ensure it is compliant 
with the Prudential Code and PWLB criteria.
Research other investment opportunities / income streams.

Key corporate documents and processes in place  Treasury Management Strategy
 Capital Strategy
 Property Acquisition Strategy

P
age 97



12 | P a g e

The Risk Adoption and delivery of a sound Local Plan Risk No. 6
Link to Corporate Objective #Place

Assessment Date January 2022

Cabinet Portfolio Strategic Environment

Risk Owner(s) Director of Environment, Assistant Director (Planning)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE TARGET  RISK SCORE
Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score  16 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score  12 Likelihood  3 Impact  3 Score  9

Lead Officer (s) Target Date

Service Manager (Planning)
Assistant Director (Planning)

December 2023

Trigger Consequences Mitigation / Control

Local Plan is not up-to-date and not underpinned by a robust evidence 
base

 Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) are required to have an up to 
date local plan in place by the end of 2023 or face government 
sanction / intervention

 If Government intervention:
o Reputational damage to the Council 
o The potential imposition of unwanted planning policies, 

causing an inability to deliver upon the Council’s that are 
dependent on the Local Plan

 Council less able to protect the Borough from inappropriate or poor 
quality development

 Service has taken up the offer of a PAS Local Plan Gateway 
Review which is an independent assessment of the risks and 
opportunities faced.

 The Local Plan is supported by a detailed project timetable / 
project plan that is used to control and manage the process, 
so far as that is possible and that this is periodically presented 
to Management Team for management update/monitoring 
purposes.

 There are risks which cannot be adequately mitigated 
because they are under the control of external organisations 
and the Council is reliant on those external parties for 
elements of the Local Plan. For example, updated transport 
modelling is required from Kent County Council in agreement 
with National Highways. This is outside of our direct control 
but essential for the plan.

Council is unable to identify a five-year land supply and fails the 
Government’s Housing Delivery Test

 Where councils’ cannot demonstrate a five year supply, national 
planning policy, rather than policies in a Local Plan have greater 
influence in decision making 

 National policy states there should be a “presumption in favour of 
sustainable development” for housing. This means that if a site can 
be considered to deliver ‘sustainable development’ then planning 
permission could be granted, even if there is no support from the 
council for housing in that location or the site sits outside the Local 
Plan. 

 Councils have less ‘control’ over where new homes are built: 
o May have to recommend approval of applications for sites 

they have not allocated 
o Increase in rejected proposals approved at appeal.

 Production of Housing Delivery Action Plan and 
implementation of the interventions identified within it

Key corporate documents and processes in place Housing Delivery Action Plan
Local Development Scheme

P
age 98



Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5a Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 21 February 2022
	5b Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 2 March 2022
	5c Minutes of the meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee held on Tuesday, 8 March 2022
	5d Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 21 March 2022
	7 Independent Remuneration Panel
	8 Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023
	3a. Appendix 1 Risk Management Strategy 2022-2023
	3b. Appendix 2 Risk Analysis Document
	3c. Appendix 3 Draft Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023


